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Independent auditor's report on the annual accounts 

  
  
To the sole shareholder of Autopistas del Atlántico, Concesionaria Española, S.A. (Sociedad 
Unipersonal) (Unipersonal Company) 
  
Report on the annual accounts 
  
Opinion 

We have audited the annual accounts of Autopistas del Atlántico, Concesionaria Española, S.A. (the 
Company), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2022, and the income statement, 
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and related notes for the year then ended. 

In our opinion, the accompanying annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects, the equity 
and financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, as well as its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework (as identified in note 2 of the notes to the annual accounts), and in particular, with the 
accounting principles and criteria included therein. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the annual accounts section of our report. 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those 
relating to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the annual accounts in Spain, in accordance 
with legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services other than 
those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen that, in 
accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary 
independence such that it has been compromised. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the annual accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 
Assessing possible impairment of concession 
arrangements 
 
As explained in Note 5, at 31 December 2022 
the Company had recorded as intangible asset 
the investment, amounting to 1,463,772 
thousand euro, in a concession agreement for 
transport infrastructure, namely, toll road AP-9. 

The Company assesses the possible 
indications of impairment and calculates the 
recoverable amount of such asset, which 
entails a complex process (notes 2 (b) and 4 
(c)) requiring the use of estimates that include 
judgements and significant assumptions by 
management, supported on an independent 
expert. 
 
As a result of the calculations made, 
management of the Company has not deemed 
it necessary to make any value adjustments 
with respect to concession arrangement. 
 

Given the significance of this asset and the 
high level of judgement required, assessing 
the possible impairment is considered the most 
relevant aspect of the audit. 

 
 
 
We have gained an understanding of the 
evaluation process carried out by management in 
relation to the recoverable amount, as well as the 
supporting controls. 
 
We have obtained the financial model used in the 
impairment testing approved by management, on 
which carried out, among others, the following 
procedures:  
 
• Arithmetic verification of the calculus 

considered in the financial model. 
 
• Comparison of projected annual cash flows 

estimated in previous years with cash flows 
obtained in 2022. 
 

• Obtaining the sensitivity analysis with 
respect to the main assumptions.  
 

• Checking the reasonableness of the 
business and market assumptions used by 
management. 
 

Additionally, we have obtained the valuation 
report issued by the management independent 
expert, on which we carried out, among others, 
the following procedures:  
 
• Verification of the expert’s competence, 

capacity and independence by obtaining 
confirmation and corroborating its 
professional standing in the market. 

 
• Comparison of methodology used, discount 

rate and other market data such as the 
interest rate curves and the inflation rate 
using those used by management and in 
prior years. 

 
Finally, we verified that the disclosures and 
information included in the notes to accounts are 
appropriate. 
 
The results of the procedures used has made 
possible to reasonably achieve the audit 
objectives for which the procedures were 
designed. 
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Emphasis of matter 

We draw attention to note 2 (a) of the annual accounts, which describes that the Company's working 
capital is negative at 156,964 thousand euro, as a result of the short-term transfers of debt issued by 
the Company for an amount of 193,000 thousand euros, with a maturity in June 2023. As indicated in 
the note, after the preparation of these annual accounts, the Company has signed non-current loan 
amounting to 193,000 thousand euro to cover the entire debt maturity in June 2023. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 

Other information: Directors' report 

Other information comprises only the directors' report for the 2022 financial year, the formulation of 
which is the responsibility of the Company's directors and does not form an integral part of the annual 
accounts. 

Our audit opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the directors' report. Our responsibility 
regarding the directors' report, in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice, is to 
evaluate and report on the consistency between the directors' report and the annual accounts as a 
result of our knowledge of the entity obtained during the audit of the aforementioned financial 
statements, as well as to evaluate and report on whether the content and presentation of the directors' 
report is in accordance with applicable regulations. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that material misstatements exist, we are required to report that fact. 

On the basis of the work performed, as described in the previous paragraph, the information contained 
in the directors' report is consistent with that contained in the annual accounts for the 2022 financial 
year, and its content and presentation are in accordance with the applicable regulations. 

Responsibility of the directors and the audit committee for the annual accounts 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying annual accounts, such that they 
fairly present the equity, financial position and financial performance of the Company, in accordance 
with the financial reporting framework applicable to the entity in Spain, and for such internal control as 
the aforementioned directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process of preparation and presentation of the 
annual accounts. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts.  
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As part of an audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the annual accounts or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual accounts, including the 
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the entity's audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the entity's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, and we communicate with the 
aforementioned those matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the entity’s audit committee, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the annual accounts of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. 

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
European single electronic format 

We have examined the digital file of the European single electronic format (ESEF) of Autopistas del 
Atlántico, Concesionaria Española, S.A. for the 2022 financial year that comprises an XHTML file of 
the annual accounts for the financial year, which will form part of the annual financial report. 
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The directors of Autopistas del Atlántico, Concesionaria Española, S.A. are responsible for presenting 
the annual financial report for 2022 financial year in accordance with the formatting requirements 
established in the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 of the European 
Commission (hereinafter the ESEF Regulation). In this regard, the Annual Corporate Governance 
Report and the Annual Report on Directors' Remuneration have been incorporated by reference in the 
directors' report. 

Our responsibility is to examine the digital file prepared by the Company's directors, in accordance 
with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. This legislation requires that we plan and 
execute our audit procedures in order to verify whether the content of the annual accounts included in 
the aforementioned file completely agrees with that of the annual accounts that we have audited, and 
whether the format of these accounts has been affected, in all material respects, in accordance with 
the requirements established in the ESEF Regulation. 

In our opinion, the digital file examined completely agrees with the audited annual accounts, and these 
are presented, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements established in the ESEF 
Regulation. 

Report to the audit committee 

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the audit 
committee of the Company dated 30 March 2023. 

Appointment period 

The sole shareholder on 4 Novembre 2022 appointed us as auditors for a period of one year, for the 
year ended 31 December 2022. 

Previously, we were appointed by the sole shareholder for a period of tres years and we have audited 
the accounts continuously since the year ended 31 December 2019. 

Services provided 

Services provided to the audited entity for services other than the audit of the accounts are disclosed 
in note 25 to the annual accounts. 
  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242) 

  

  

 

Original in Spanish signed by Goretty Álvarez González (20208) 

30 March 2023
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AUTOPISTA S DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Balance sheet 
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 

(in euros) 

ASSETS 

NON·CURRENT ASSETS 

Intangible Fixed Assets 

Concession arrangements, regulated assets 

I l Uf1fLJ -,, JI f H!J~v:! 

Concession arrangements. capilahsa11on 

Advances under concession arrangements. regulated assets 

Other intangible fixed assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Lands and buildings 

Technical facilities and other properly. plan! and equipment 

Accumulated amortisation 

Non·current investments in group companics and associates 

Loans to companies 

Non·current financia! investmcnts 

Equity instruments 

Loans to third parties 

Other financia! assets 

Deferred tax assets 

CURRENT ASSETS 

lnventories 

Trade and other receivablcs 

Trade receivables for sales and serv1ces 

Group companies and associates. receivables 

Sundry receivables 

Staff 

Other receivables from Public Admin1stration 

Curren! investments in group companics and associates 

Loans to companies 

Curren! financia! investments 

Debt securities 

Other financia! assets 

Curren! accruals 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Liquid assets 

Other cash and cash equivalents 

TOTAL ASSETS 

5 

5 (,¡ 

6 

7 and 17 

7 

16 

7 and 8 

17 

7 and 17 

7 

9 

lOl.2 

1,564,372,243.08 

1,463,803,591 .18 

1,028,865,232.02 

242,332,239. 75 

1,490,532,944.84 

(261 , 750,474.36) 

(442,249,478.2 1) 

434 ,867,355.57 

38,611 .00 

32,392.59 

900,269.79 

1,506,833.00 

2,382,437.87 

(2,989,001 .08) 

97 ,726,022 .77 

97,726,022.77 

73,026.06 

305.00 

13,763.80 

58,957 .26 

1,869,333.28 

72,187,577.97 

197,402.75 

39,824,632.29 

5 ,080.149.31 

248,092 .58 

854 ,891 .68 

22,039.44 

33,619.459.28 

1,608,704.51 

1,608. 704.51 

10,330,576.64 

10,007,301 .37 

323,275.27 

287,849.46 

19,938,412.32 

5,133,318.07 

14,805,094.25 

1,636,559,821.05 

The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form a comprehensive part 

2021 

1,554,034,814.30 

1,490,596,290.11 . 

1,081 ,506,380.58 

254,417,320.28 

1,490,532,944.84 

(261, 750, 474.36) 

(401,693,410.18) 

409,027 ,985.19 

23,988.86 

37 ,935.48 

912,271 .19 

1.506,833.00 

2,383,200.89 . 

(2,977,762.70) 

59,936,969.33 

59,936,969.33 

82,660.32 

305.00 

23,462.66 

58,892.66 

2,506,623.35 

103,600,536.38 

194,442.32 

47,955,314.23 

3,738,542.70 

197,429.45 

988,084.04 

15,364.83 

43,015,893.21 

674,886.45 

674 ,886.45 

409, 186.58 

409, 186.58 J 

235,654.25 

54, 131 ,052.55 

54,131 ,052.55 

1,657,635, 50.68 

of the Annual Accounts at 31 Decemberr':l'tir"7~------

PILAR BENfTEZ ART(NEZ 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 

(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Balance sheet 
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 

(in euros) 

¡ EQUITY ANO LIABILITIES 
NI 2022 2021 

EQUITY 

Capital and Reserves 

Capital 

Legal reserve 

Other reserves 

Revaluation reserves 

Voluntary reserves 

ProfiVloss for lhe year 

lntenm dividend 

Subsidies, donations and bequests received 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Non-curren! provisions 

Prov1s1ons for infrastructure maintenance 

Non-curren! payables 

Debentures and Other Marketable Securit1es 

Debt with financial institutions 

Other financ1al liabilities 

Deferred tax l iabilities 

Non-curren! accruals 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Current provisions 

Prov1s1ons for infrastructure maintenance 

Curren! payables 

Debentures and Other Marketable Securities 

Debt wilh financial inslilulions 

Other financial liabilílies 

Curren! payables to group companies and associates 

Trade and other payables 

Sundry payables 

Staff 

Other paya bles to Public Admínistration 

TOTAL EQUITY ANO LIABILITIES 

10 

10 

10 

10 

3 

11 

12 

7 

13 

14 

16 

12 

7 

13 

14 

7 and 17 

7 

7 

15 

468 ,947,861.54 482,583,256.96 

417 ,477 ,468.29 429, 104,880.01 

195 ,917.586 00 195.917 ,586.00 

39, 183.51 7.20 39.183.517 20 

169,277,407.03 169,277,407.03 

168,694,027.73 168,694.027.73 

583,379.30 583,379.30 

66,098,958.06 50, 726,369. 78 

(53,000,000.00) (26,000,000.00) 

51 ,470,393.25 53,478,376.95 

938,459,954.95 948,484,524.01 

21,090 ,702. 73 18,804,375.15 

21,090,702.73 18,804 ,375.15 

900, 192,442.31 911 ,831 ,345.05 

531 ,701 ,955.87 559,914,521 .30 

149,966,335.53 313,033, 122.50 

218 .524.150.91 38,883, 701 .25 

17, 156,804.91 17,826,132.81 

20 ,005.00 22,671.00 

229, 152,004.56 226,567,569.71 

4,173,734.91 3,264,310.99 

4,173,734 .91 3,264,310.99 

195,327,710.23 182,272,709.54 

193,600,984.10 181 ,344,576.13 

1.11 3. 706.13 928, 133.41 

6 13,020.00 

19,665,931 . 70 31,143 ,536.88 

9 ,984,627.72 9,887,012.30 

8 ,459,382 77 8,840,534 .99 

898.905.45 445,688.29 

626,339.50 600,789.02 

1,636,559,821.05 1,657,635,350.68 

PILAR Bf:NITEZ MARTf NEZ 
TRADUCTORA-INTÉRPRETE JURADA DE INGLtS 

número 325 \ 

The accompanying notes 1 to 26 form a comprehensive part 
of the Annual Accounts at 31 December 2022 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Net turnover 

Toll income 

lncome statement 
for the years end ing 

31 December 2022 and 2021 
(in euros) 

Works carr ied out by the company for its assets 

lnventories 

Other operating income 

Sundry and other current operalmg 1ncome 

Staff expenses 

Wages. salaries and similar expenses 

Employer contr ibutions 

Other operating expenses 

Externa! services 

Taxes 

Provision for replacements and maior repairs 

Losses, impairment and changes m prov1s1ons for trade operations 

Depreciation and amortisation chargc 

Noto 

18 

20 

12 

8 

5 and 6 

A llocatlon to Profit or Loss of Grants Rclatcd to Non-financia! Non-curren! Assets and Other Grants 11 

lmpairment losses and profit on disposat o f fixed assets 

Other profit 

OPERATING PROFIT 

Financia! income 

From negotiable securities and other hnanc1a1 1nstruments 

From group companies and assoc1ates 

From third parties 

Financia! expenses 

From debts to third parties 

From provision adjustments 

Alter applying deferred financia! expenses from toll road financing 

Exchange differences 

lmpairment and loss from disposal of financ ia! instruments 

lmpairments and losses 

FINANCIAL LOSS 

PRE-TAX PROFIT 

lncome tax 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 

19 

17 

19 

12 

5 

16 

3 

2022 ,021 

171,819,369.54 150,256,194.21 

171 ,819,369.54 150,256,194.21 
1 

7,257.63 

(217 ,525. 70) (478,280.81) 

1,693,920.71 1,950,952.32 

1,693,920.71 1,950.952.32 

(10,956,459.35) (10,111,372.81) 

(8 ,322,456.08) (7,7c 0.19) 

(2,634 ,003.27) (2,390,692.62) 

(22,362,523.05) (20,538,493.98) 

(16,913,712 .57) (15,792,710.31) 

(469,045 .98) (464,469.63) 

(4 ,979,764.50) (4,229,227.62) 

(52,086.42) 

(40 ,685,348.74) (41 ,828,512.60) 

2,677,311 .60 2,677,311.60 

21,519 .72 1,841 .76 

83,616.59 127,101 .02 

102,073,881.32 82,063,998.34 

2,859,933.67 1,745,867.46 

2,859,933.67 1,745,867.46 

1,722,871.50 774 ,849.93 

1,137.062.F 970 7.53 

(16,889,573.45) (16,162,496.47) 

(41,366,528.55) (42,684,715.85) 

(1,362,415.28) (1,346,915.12) 

25,839,370.38 27,869, 134.50 

(132 .5:8) (1 .54) 

(12,208.08) 

(12,208.08) 

(14,029,772.36) (14,428,838.63) 

88,044, 108.96 67,635,159.71 

(21,945, 150.9p) (16,908,789.93) 
; 

66,098,958.06 50,726,369.78 



AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Statements of Changes in Equity 
for the years ending 

31 December 2022 and 2021 
(in euros) 

l 

A) Profit/loss for the year 

B) Total lncome and expenses recognised directly in equity 

¡ Amounts transferred to the income statement 

Subs1d1es. donations and bequests received (notes 11 and 16) 

Tax effect (notes 11 and 16) 

C) Total amounts trans ferred to the income statement 

o TOTAL RECOGNISEO INCOME ANO EXPENSES (A+ B + C) 

JSTArtMENror fOTA AN .E.S l EOU TY 

Rcg1stercd 
Reservt 

ca¡lltal 

BALANCE, E,NO OF YEAR 2020 195,917,586.00 208,436,654.4 1 

Total recognised income and expenses 

Transactions wi th partners or owners 

Oividend distribution 

( • lntenm dividend 

v ther chang~s in equity 24,269.82 

BALANCE, ENO OF YEAR 2021 195,917,586.00 208 ,460,924.23 

Total recognised income and expenses 

Transactions with partners or owners 

Dist11bution of div1dends (Note 3) 

lnterim divid!lnds (note 3) 

Other changes in equity 

BALANCE, END OF YEAR 2022 195,917 ,586.00 208,460,924.23 

Prior ycars 
profitlloss 

(33,692,685.51) 

(33,692,685 51) 

33,692,685.51 

(50,726,369.78) 

(50, 726,369. 78) 

50, 726,369. 78 

2022 

66,098,958.06 

(2.677,311 .60) 

669,327 90 

(2,007,983. 70) 

64,090,974.36 

Profitlloss for (lntcrim 
the ye.ir di111dend) 

33,692,685.51 (30,500,000.00) 

50,726 ,369.78 

4,500,000.00 

30,500,000.00 

(26,000,000.00) 

(33,692,685.51 ) 

50, 726,369. 78 (26,000,000.00) 

66,098,958.06 

(27,000,000.00) 

26,000,000.00 

(53,000,000.00) 

(50,726,369.78) 

66,098,958.06 (53,000,000.00) 

2021 

50, 726,369.78 

(2.677 ,311.60) 

669.327.90 

(2,007,983.70) 

48,718,386.08 

Subsidies, 
donations 

;md bcquests 
rece1ved (note 

11) 

55,486,360.65 

(2,007,983. 70) 

53,478,376.95 

(2,007 ,983. 70) 

51 ,470 ,393.25 

TOTAL 

463,033,286.57 

48, 718,386.08 

(29,192,685.51) 

(3, 192,685.51) 

(26,000,000.00) 

24,269.82 

482,583,256.96 

64,090,974.36 

(77,726,369.78) 

(24,726,369.78) 

(53,000,000.00) 

468,947,861 .54 

,.._-----~-:-::-:;:=:--------
PILAR BENITEZ MARTINEZ 

TRADUCTORA·INT~RPRETE JURADA O " iNGLtS 
numero 325 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL A TLÁNT/CO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Statement of cash flow 
for the years ending 

31 December 2022 and 2021 
(in euros) 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

ProfiUloss for the year before taxes 

Adjustments to profiUloss 

Depreciation and_<1mortisation charge ( +) 

lmpairment losses (+/-) 

Changes in provisions (+/-) 

Allocation of grants (-) 

Proceeds lrom divestments ol fixed assets ( • /-) 

Proceeds rrom retirements and d1sposals ol financ1al instruments (+/-) 

Financial income (-) 

Financial expenses (+) 

Exchange dilferences (+/-) 

Changes in working capital 

lnventories (+/-) 

Trade and other receivables (+/-) 

Other current assets (+/-) 

Trade and other payables (+/-) 

Other current liabilities (+/-) 

Other non-curren! assets and liabilities (+/-) 

Other cash flow fro m operating activities 

lnterest paid (·) 

lnterest received (+) 

lncome tax received (paid) (+/-) 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Payments for investments (-) 

Group companies and assoc1ates 

Intangible fixed assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Other financia! assets 

Collections for disposal of asscts (+) 

Intangible fixed assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Other financia! assets 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCtNG ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from and paym ents for financia! l iabili t ies 

lssue: 

Debentures and Other Marketable Secunt1es (+) 

Debt with credit institutions (+) 

Redemption and repayment ol: 

Oebentures and Other Marketable Secunties 

Oebt with credit institutions (-) 

Dividend and interest on other equity instruments paid 

Dividends (·) 

NET INCREASE I DE CREASE IN CASH ANO CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start ol the year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end or the year 

Note 

5 and 6 

8 

12 

16 

19 

19 

12 

17 

13 

14 

202~ 

64,556,821.94 

88,044,108.96 

56,996,054 .28 

40,685,348. 7 4 

4,979,764.50 

(2,677,311.60) 

(21 ,519.72) 

(2.859.933.67) 

16.889,573 45 

132.58 

(21 ,027,186.64) 

(2,960.43) 

12,141 ,975.88 

(52,195.21) 

(29,977.212.86) 

(3, 146,428.28) 

9,634 .26 

(39,454,154.66) 

(33,207.195.43) 

1,517,960.29 

(7,764,919.52) 

(60,538,097 .14) 

(73,644,790.19) 

(63.000.000 00) 

(592.837.61) 

(130,562.52) 

(9.921 .390.06) 
13,106,693.05 

13,067 ,013.07 

39,679.98 

(58,213,365.03) 

(6,486 ,995.25) 

160,814 ,547.17 

177,802,057.58 

(180,303,600.00) 

(164 ,800,000.00) 

(51 ,726,369 .78) 

(51 ,726,369. 78) 

(34, 192,640.23) 

54, 131 ,052.55 

19,938,412.32 

l021 

57,521,146.61 

67,635,159.71 

57,859 ,510.37 

41 ,828,512.60 

52,086.42 

4,229,227.62 

(2,677 ,311.60) 

(1,841 .76) 

12,208.08 

(1 ,745,867.46) 

16, 162,496.47 

(8,808,932.00) . 

124,501 .83 

(3,830,391. 78) 

23, 131.85 

( 1, 340,379.25) 

(3, 785,794.65) 

(59,164,589.47) . 

(35,595,938.12) 

130,292.58 

(23,698,943.93) 

17,231 ,528.1 1 

(12,975,802.84) 

( 12,500,000.00) 

(21 ,349.77) 

(45,266.49) 

(409.186.58) 

30,207,330.95 

30, 148,637 .65 

49,886.35 

8,806.95 

(31,391,033.41) 

(2,198,347.90) 

48,957,319.52 

65,255,332.58 

(66, 11 1,000.00) , 

(50,300,000.00) 

(29, 192,685.51) 

(29, 192,685.51) 

43 ,361,643.31 

} 
54 ,131 ,0 .55 

The accompany ing notes 1 to 26 form a compre 
of the Annual Accounts at 31 December 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

!1. NATURE ANO MAIN ACTIVITIES 

(a) Background 

Autopistas del Atlántico Concesionaria Española, S.A. (hereinafter, the Company, AUDASA 
or AP-9) was incorporated as a corporation on 16 October 1973 under Spanish Law. The 
Spanish government awarded it a concession contract to construct, maintain and operate a 
toll road between Tui (on the border with Portugal) and El Ferrol. The corporate purpose also 
includes the operation of toll road service areas as prescribed by law. All of the above 
constitute the principal activity of the Company. The Company has been incorporated far a 
limited duration of time in line with the concession period. At the end of that period, it will 
cease to be a company or any other type of legal entity. 

Royal Decree 173/2000 of 4 February approved an amendment to the concession contract, 
whereby the term of the concession was extended until 18 August 2048 in compensation for 
carrying out certain work and investments by the Company. Management expects that the 
total investment in the toll toad (recognised in the accounts as a concession arrangement 
under intangible fixed assets) will have been recovered and all borrowings repaid in full at 
that date. 

Royal Decree 633/2006 of 19 May amended certain terms of the Concession of the Ferrol
Portuguese border toll road so that the Company would stop charg ing users the toll for the 
routes: O Morrazo-Vigo and A Coruña-A Barcala and return routes (see note 1 (d) and 8). 

Royal Decree 1733/2011 of 18 November approved an amendment to the concession 
contract whereby, in compensation for carrying out work to increase the capacity of certain 
sections of the toll road, the Company can, as an exceptional measure, increase its tolls 
pursuant the criteria established in the aforementioned Royal Decree until such time as it 
has recovered its investment and the maintenance and other costs derived from this work 
(see note 1(e) and 5 (a )). 

Royal Decree 104/2013, dated 8 February. approved a concession modification according 
to which, the Company, dueto the application of a rebate to certain regu lar users travelling 
between Pontevedra and Vigo, compensated together with the compensation provided in 
Royal Decree 1733/2011. Said Royal Decree was repealed by Royal Decree 681 /2021 of 27 
July in terms of user toll rebates in view of the fact that they are incorporated in said Royal 
Decree 681/2021 (see note 1 (f)). 

Royal Decree 803/2017 of 28 July amended the shadow toll compensation procedure 
considered in the agreement approved by Royal Decree 633/2006 of 19 May. Said Royal 
Decree was declared null and void by a Supreme Court Judgement on 19 February 2020 
which re-established the validity of the agreement regulated by Royal Decree 633/2006 (see 
note 1 (d) and 8). 

Royal Decree 681 /2021 , of 27 July. amended sorne terms of the administrative concession 
to build. maintain and operate the Autopista del Atlántico AP-9 toll road, approving a series 
of toll discount measures for light vehicles that cross the AP-9 using 'Vía-T' on a frequent 
basis and on a very frequent basis, and toll discounts for heavy vehicles regardless of the 
payment method used (see note 8) 

Ali of the share capital is owned by ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U. (formerly Empresa 
Nacional de Autopistas, S.A.), which has its registered office in Madrid. At 31 December 
2022, the shares of ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U. are held by ENAITINERE, S.L.U. 
which, in turn, is owned by ITINERE INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A. (hereinafter, ITÍNERE). 

Pursuant to article 42 of the Spanish Code of Commerce, the Company belongs to a group 
of companies, the parent of which is ITÍNERE, which has its registered office in Bilbao and 
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AUTOPISTA S DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

on 21 March 2022 authorised the issue of its consolidated Annual accoun ts and consolidated 
management report for the year ended 31 December 202 1. Those accounts were deposited 
with the Mercantile Reg istry in Bilbao. Likewise, and in turn , this group belongs to another, 
the ultimate holding company ofwhich, in Spain, is ARECIBO SERVICIOS Y GESTIONES, 
S.L. (here inafter, ARECIBO ). which was incorporated on 27 April 2009 and has its registered 
office in Bilbao. On 06 April 2022, ARECIBO drafted its consolidated annual accounts and 
consolidated management report for the year ended 31 December 2021. ITINERE and 
ARECIBO are expected to authorise the issue of the consolidated annual accounts for the 
year ended 31 December 2022 on 30 March and 31 March 2023, respectively. 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, ARECIBO holds a 52.87% stake in the capital of ITÍNERE. 

All activity is carried out solely in Spain. 

The Company's registered office is at calle Alfredo Vicenti, 15, A Coruña, Spain. 

(b) Construction 

At 31 December 2022, all the sections of the toll road between the Ferrol access and Tui are 
open to traffic, coverin g a distance of 219.6 kilometres. 

(c) Financing 

Given the nature of the Company's concession business, the deed of the concession and 
other Royal Decrees that affect the administrative concession , there is a number of financing 
requirements. 

The Company cannot issue debentures without a bank guarantee or mortgage guarantee for 
a total nominal value in excess of six times the capital issued and paid up. The Company 
has financed part of the construction of the infrastructure through non-convertible debentures 
listed on an organised market. The concession agreement provides for a tax deduction of 
95% of the tax payable on the returns from these debentures (see note 13). 

The Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda granted AUDASA, refundable 
advances of 30% of the total investment for the Fene-Guísamo and Rande-Puxeiros 
sections, a refundable advance of 45% of the total investment of the Santiago South
Pontevedra North section and a non-refundable grant of 50% of the work to be carried out 
and the compulsory purchases for the Santiago North-Santiago South and Pontevedra 
North-Pontevedra South sections (see notes 4(k) and 7(a)). 

(d) Royal Decree 633/2006 and Royal Decree 803/2017 

Royal Decree 633/2006, of 19 May, includes the abolishment of the direct charge to users of 
the toll roads between O Morrazo-Vigo and A Coruña-A Barcala and vice versa. The amounts 
resu lting from applying the toll tariffs in force (including VAT) to the traffic count are assumed, 
50:50 by the Spanish state government and the regional government of Galicia. ; 

Later, Royal Decree 803/2017, 28 July, amended the agreement approved by Royal Decree 
633/200, which affects the compensation calculation system and the method of invoicing and · 
the recipient, which exclusively beca me the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda. 

The Company filed a contentious administrative appeal befare the Supreme Court against;
Royal Decree 803/2017 of 28 July and, on 19 February 2020, the Supreme Court agreed that 
(i) Royal Decree 803/2017 of 28 Ju ly was null and void and (i i) the consideration system w s 
applicable to the concession operator as approved by Royal Decree 633/2006 of 19 May; ii) . 
AUDASA's situation be re-established, recogn ising its right to be compensated for t e 
damages caused by the implementation of the remuneration system of the aforemention d 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

Royal Decree 803/2017, and the right to be paid the interest that legally corresponds thereto 
from the time of right to payment accrued in accordance with Royal Decree 633/2006 and 
until it is actually paid; and (iv) order the General State Administration to pay AUDASA for 
compensation and interest resulting from the effects that may arise from the commitments 
agreed in 2006. 

On 14 October 2021 the Supreme Court laid down an Order in which the General State 
Admin istration was sentenced to pay AUDASA the sum of 13,883 thousand euros by way of 

t remuneration for the concession for the years of 2017 (since 29 July), 2018 and 2019. Said 
amount, as well as the interest pertaining thereunto for an amount of 1,355 thousand euros, 
was paid to AUDASA on 7 January 2022 (see note 8). 

(e) Royal Oecrees 1733/2011 and 104/2013 

As mentioned in note 1 (a), Royal Oecree 1733/2011 dated 18 November approved a 
concession modification by virtue of which , the Company may, in extraordinary 
circumstances, increase, pursuant the criteria established in the aforementioned Royal 
Decree, their rates until they have compensated the investment, conservation expenses and 
other expenses derived from the capacity expansion works of different sections of the toll 
road (the Santiago de Compostela ring road and access to Vigo, including the Rande Bridge). 
Likewise, Royal Decree 104/2013 of 8 February approved the agreement between the 
General State Administration and the Company to offer discounts to certain regular users 
travelling between Pontevedra and Vigo. The discounts are given to users making a return 
journey in a light vehicle on a working day on the Pontevedra-Vigo, Pontevedra-Morrazo, 
Pontevedra-Vilaboa and Rande-Vigo routes via the dynamic toll system. 

The section of Royal Oecree 104/2013 on toll discounts for users was repealed on 29 July 
2021 when Royal Decree 681/202 1, 27 July, entered into force, because these discounts 
were included in the new Royal Decree (see note 1 (f)). 

During the term of the aforementioned Royal Decree, AUDASA chose not to record the 
compensation of the aforementioned discounts on the balance sheet as it believes that it did 
not meet the requirements established in the accounting standards for asset recognition , 
which does not affect in any way whatsoever the right established in Royal Decree 104/2013 
to receive compensation. 

As established by the aforementioned Royal Oecree, to compensate the lower income and 
the capitalised value of the net cash flows until the end of the concession period calculated 
atan annual rate of 8% as indicated in Royal Oecree 1733/2011 of 18 November (see notes 
1 (a) and 5 (a)), once the aggregate balance of both Royal Degrees has been calculated, 
the Company applied to the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda for an 
exceptional rise in the tariffs that will guarantee that the aggregate balance resulting from the 
compensation at the end of the concession period will be zero. Likewise, as established in 
Royal Decree 1733/2011 , dated 18 November (see notes 1 (a) and 5 (a)), once the 
expansion works have been commissioned, an amount equal to 1.4% of the compensatable 
investment, as well as the corresponding tax effects, is incorporated to the compensation 
balance, as maintenance expenses. 

On 29 October 2018, the Secretary of State for lnfrastructure, Transport and Housing, by 
delegation of the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda, in accordance with Order 
FOM 1644/2012 of 23 July, issued an order approving the rates and toll fees for the 
company's concession, resu lting from the application of the provisions of Royal Decrees 
1733/2011of18 November and 104/2013 of 8 February, as well as those included in the 
draft Royal Decree approving an addendum to the agreement approved by the 
aforementioned Royal Decree 1733/2011 , of 18 November, according to which the 
circumstances were appropriate to allow for an extraordinary increase in rates on routes ith 
direct payment by users of the aforementioned toll road of 1.0% for 20 years, as well a an 
additional 1 % in 2018, and an additional 0.8% in both 2019 and 2020. 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A . 
(Soc iedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

Until the concessionaire company has received full compensation , the cumulative annual 
percentage of rate increases and their validity period are reviewed every five years by the.1 
Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda, making the necessary adjustments to the 
compensation parameters. These adjustments may not result in an extraordinary annual rate 
increase percentage of more than 1.5 percent. 

As stipulated in clause eight of the agreement, these five-yearly reviews and the necessary 
adjustments must ensure than before the end of the concession period the compensation 
balances out at zero. 

The breakdown of and movement in those balances correspond ing to Royal Decrees 
1733/2011 and 104/2013 are shown below: 

·.1ovements Move111c.nts 
H.1 . J:l020 Z021 l1 12 2021 2022 31112 2022 

Clearing account - R.O. 1733/2011 and R.O. 104/2013 

- Offset investments (RO 1733/2011) (note 1 (f)) 228,217 (30,140) 198,077 (12,909) 185,168 

- Maintenance expenses (RO 1733/2011) 9,339 3,456 12,795 3,657 16,452 

- Subsidised traffic (R.O. 104/2013) 33,154 2,982 36,136 36,136 
- Recovery of balance due to extraordinary increase in 

rates (10,934) (8, 135) (19,069) (10,799) (29,868) 

· Tax effects (4,993) (699) (5,692) 200 (5,492) 

- Financia! update 82,799 27,007 109,806 26,564 136,370 

Total c learing balance· R.O. 1733/2011 and R.O. 104/2013 337,582 (5,529) 332,053 6,713 338,766 

(f) Royal Oecree 681/2021 

Royal Decree 68112021 . of 27 July, amended sorne terms of the administrative concession 
to build, maintain and operate the Autopista del Atlántico AP-9 tell road, approving a series 
of toll discount measures for light vehicles that cross the AP-9 using 'Vía-T' on a frequent 
basis and on a very frequent basis, and tell discounts fer heavy vehicles regardless of the 
payment method used. 

The Company's has applied a 25 percent discount on the toll amount fer the return journey 
made on the same working day and with the same origin and destination fer light vehicles 
that pay using the dynamic or electronic tell system. 

The new toll rebate measures considered in Royal Oecree 681 /2021 simultaneously apply to 
the maintenance of the aforementioned discount of 25 per cent on the tell that AUDASA has 
been applying at present. 

The measures established in Royal Decree 681/2021 , 27July, are designed to ensure 
economic neutrality for AUDASA, so that the result fer the Company will be the same after 
the measures are applied as if the concession agreement had not been amended. 

The compensation for AUDASA brought about by the application of the toll rebates included 
in said Royal Decree shall be obtained as "1- 2+3", where: 

1. Loss of income from the toll amount which as a result of this royal decree, is rebated for 
light and heavy vehicles. 

2. Tell income amount resul ting from traffic induced as a result of the implementatíon 
said rebates (new trips caused by the determination of rebates or attracting user traffic fro 
other roads). 

3. Add itional upkeep and operating costs brought about by induced traffic. 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL A TLÁNT/CO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersona l) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

Traffic volume measurements and the attendant calculation of compensation are subject to 
control and continuous verification by the Government Delegation in the Concessionary 
Companies of National Toll Roads. With this in mind, the Company sends the Government 
Delegation a monthly count of the traffic carried out with a right to a rebate and a quarterly 
calculation of the compensation receivable which, once it has been validated by the 
Admin istration , gives rise to the issuance of the attendant invoice. 

Royal Decree 681/2021 envisages that, in the first quarter of each year, the Government 
Delegation in the Concessionary Companies of the National Toll Roads will approve the 
annual settlement whereby, in line with the review and verification carried out, any applicable 
corrections may be made. 

Likewise, Royal Decree 681/2021 envisages that if the light and heavy vehicle toll rebate 
measures considered therein and the actions required for their control did not attain in any 
of the years the estimated value set out in the attendant budgetary items, the balance will 
preferably be used, at the discretion of the Government Delegation in the Concessionary 
Companies of National Toll Roads, to reduce the offsetting balance foreseen in Royal Decree 
1733/2011 orto discount it from the subsequent annual payment. 

In December 2022, the Ministry for Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda made a 
contribution to the Company totalling 13,067 thousand euros to reduce the balance pending 
compensation envisaged in Royal Decree 1733/2011 (30, 148 thousand euros in December 
2021) (see note 1 (e)). 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

(a) True and fair view 

The attached annual accounts were obtained from the Company's accounting records and 
presented in accordance with prevailing commercial legislation and the standards 
established in the Spanish General Chart of Accounts through Royal Decree 1514/2007 of 
16 November and the amendments made to the latter by Royal Decree 1/2021of12 January, 
in force for the financia! years starting as from 1 st January 2021 . Also, the standards to adapt 
the Spanish General Chart of Accounts for public infrastructure concession operators, 
approved by Ministerial Order EHA/3362/201 O of 23 December, are taken into account to 
give a true and fair view of the equity and financia! position at 31 December 2022 and results 
of its transactions, changes in equity, and cash flow for the year then ended. 

These annual accounts, which were authorised for issue by the Company 's directors, will be 
submitted for approval by the General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting and are expected to 
be approved without any changes. Similarly, the 2021 annual accounts were approved by 
the sole partner exercising the powers of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 27 
June 2022. 

At 31 December 2022, the Company's goodwill was 156,964 thousand euros, mainly dueto 
the fact that the low-tax debentures totalling 193,000 thousand euros that the Company 
issued in 2013 with maturity in May 2023. However, the Company's Oirectors prepared these 
financia! statements on a going concern basis since they consider that this situation will not 
affect the future development of the Company, based on estimates of cash flow generation, 
which are expected to be higher to those for 2022, and on the subscription, as at the date of 
the preparation of these annual accounts, of a bank loan for an identical amount w·th an 
interest rate references at Euribor 6 months and maturing in 2027 (see note 26 (a)) The 
Company has already the required official authorisation from the General Directorate f the 
Treasury and Financia! Policy for the 2023 financing plan, which considers the capt e of 
193,000 thousand euros. 



AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

The figures included in the notes to these annual accounts are shown in thousands of euros, 
which is the Company 's funclional and reporting currency. 

(b) Critica! factors for measuring and estimating uncertainties 

(i) Relevant accounting estimates and assumptions 

When preparing the Company's annual accounts, the Di rectors made relevant accounting 
estimates based on past experience and other factors which, in accordance with current 
circumstances, are deemed to be fair and constitute the basis for establishing the carrying 
amount of the assets and liabilities whose value cannot easily be established from other 
sources. The Company reviews its estimates in an ongoing way and, as and when 
applicable, their effects are recognised prospectively . However, given the uncertainty 
inherent to them, there is an important risk of adjustments arising in the future in the 
values of the affected assets and liabilities should there be a significan! change in the 
assumptions, facts and circumstances on which they are based. 

The key assumptions concern ing the future and other relevan! data on the uncertainty of 
estimates at the reporting date that present a risk of changes in the value of assets and 
liabilities are as fo llows: 

o Accounting estimates based on projections 

Financia! projections are mainly based on traffic growth and CPI forecasts, as these 
assumptions are used to determine forecast income and to establish the method for 
recognising deferred borrowing costs (see note 4 (a) (i i)). The Financia! Plan submitted 
to the Spanish government in January 2012 should be updated in this respect (see note 
5 (a)). 

o Replacements and majar repairs 

Estimate of the amount and periods relating to replacement activities and major repairs 
when carried out in usage periods in excess of one year, which are enforceable in relation 
to the elements required of each one of the infrastructures so that the activities and 
services they render and ca rry out can be adequately performed (see note 12). 

o lmpairment of non-financia/ assets 

The Company tests its non-financia! assets for impairment on an annual basis , using the 
appropriate impairment tests in the circumstances. 

o Oeferred tax assets 

Recognition of deferred tax assets is made on the basis of future estimates made by the 
Company in connection with the likelihood of future tax gains being available to permit 
their recovery. 

o Provisions 

The Company makes prov1s1on for risks based on judgements and estimates of the 
probability of them materialising, and their amounts. Provision is made when the risk is 
considered probable. 1 

o Calculation of the recovera ble amount of the concession agreement 

The calculation of the recoverable value may involve the establishment of future cas 
flows and assumptions relating to the future values of these flows in addition to th 
discount rates applicable to them. These estimates and related assumptions are base 
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Notes to the Annual Accounts 

on past experience and other factors deemed to be fair, in accordance with the 
circumstances surrounding the activity conducted by the Company. 

(c) Comparison of information 

For the purposes of the obligation established in article 35.6 of the Code of Commerce and 
those resulting from application of the principie of uniformity and the comparability 
requirements , the 2022 abbreviated annual accounts include comparative figures relating to 
the 2021 financia! year. 

Act 18/2022, of 28 September, regarding the creation and growth of compan ies, which 
amends the Third Add itional Provision of Act 15/201 O of 5 July, determines the obligation to 
include in the annual report and accounts additional information about the payments to 
suppliers made by the Company. In this regard , the report for the financia! year of 2022 
includes the monetary volume and the number of invoices paid in a period shorter than the 
maximum determined in the default regulations , as well as the percentage they involve of 
the total number of invoices and the monetary total of payments to its suppliers. 

(d) Statements resulting from IFRS-EU 

Since 1 January 2005, listed companies have been required to prepare their consolidated 
annual accounts under the lnternational Financia! Reporting Standards adopted by the 
European Union. Although this regulation is not applicable to the preparation of individual 
annual accounts, companies that have issued securities which are traded on a regulated 
market of any European Union member state are required to disclose the main changes in 
equity and in the income statement had these accounting standards been applied. 

Also on 1 January 2010 IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements entered into force, 
which provides guidelines on the recognition by concession holders of public-private service 
concession agreements. This interpretation affects the agreements in which the grantor 
controls or regulates the services for which the infrastructure is to be u sed, the price of these 
services and ownership of the infrastructure upon expiry of the agreement. This 
lnterpretation sets out general principies on recognising and measuring the obligations and 
related rights in service concession arrangements. 

Although the standards adapting the General Chart of Accounts for public infrastructure 
concession holders, approved by Ministry of Economy and Finance Order EHN3362/2010 
of 23 December, are aimed at harmonising Spanish accounting standards with European 
standards, in particular with 1 FRIC 12, they nonetheless include certain adaptations for the 
adequate treatment of the special circumstances of the concession business. In particular, 
costs incurred by the concession operator to finance the infrastructure should be classified 
for accounting purposes as a regulated asset provided there is reasonable evidence that the 
tariff (public price) will enable these costs to be recovered. Therefore, this is an accounting 
solution similar to that set forth in the 1998 adaptation of the General Chart of Accounts to 
the concession companies of toll roads, tunnels, bridges and other toll roads. In contrast, the 
IFRS disallow the capitalisation of financia! costs once the infrastructure is in operation. 

Based on the above, application of the aforementioned lnternational Financia! Reporting 
Standards approved by the European Un ion would lead to a reduction in equity of 326, 151 
thousand euros at 31 December 2022 (306,771 thousand euros at 31 December 2021) and 
a decrease in profit for 2022 of 21,388 thousand euros (22,910 thousand euros in 2021). In 
quantifying the above impacts, and as a result of the application of the aforementioned 1 FRSs 
subsequent to the application of the Parent of the group the Company belongs to, AUDAS 
applies the provisions of paragraph 016 of IFRS 1 in accordance with which it measures it1 
assets and liabilities by the carrying amounts included in the Parent's consolidated financia! 
statements, established at the date of transition to IFRSs. 
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3. DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT 

(a) The directors have proposed to the sole shareholder that the entire profit for the year ended 
31 December 2022 be distributed as the dividend. 

The Company can freely distribute the dividend. 

(b) On 29 July 2022 , the Board of Directors resolved to distribute the interim dividend out of 
distributable profit at 30 June 2022 amounting to 21 ,000 thousand euros, equivalent to 
0.6442 euros per share, paid on 09 August 2022. 

Pursuant to the Consolidated Text of the Corporate Enterprises Act, the aforementioned 
distribution was prepared based on profits at 30 June 2022 and the following forecast cash 
statement for the one-year period from th e date of adoption of the distribution agreement: 

Tax net result until 30 June 2022 

Allocation to the legal reserve 

Distributable profit al 30 June 2022 

lnterim dividend distributed 

lnterim dividend to be distributed 

Estimated liquid assets for a period of one year after 29 July 2022 

Liquid assets balance al 29 July 2022 

Collections and payments foreseen until 29 July 2023 

Projected liquid assets ba lance al 29 July 2023 

Thousancls o f 
euros 

21,454 

21,454 

21,000 

33,444 

32 ,262 

65,706 

(e) On 22 September 2022, the Board of Directors resolved to distribute the interim dividend out 
of distributable profit at 31 August 2022 amounting to 6,000 thousand euros, equivalent to 
0.1841 euros per share, paid on 04 October 2022. 

Pursuant to the Consolidated Text of the Corporate Enterprises Act, the aforementioned 
distribution was prepared based on profits at 31 August 2022 and the following forecast cash O 
statement for the one-year period from the date of adoption of the distribution agreement: 

1 
1 
1 

1 Tax ne! result until 31 August 2022 

Allocation to the legal reserve 

· Distributable profit al 31 August 2022 

lnterim dividend distributed 

1 
1 

lnterim dividend to be distributed 

Thousands of 
euros 

35,464 

35,464 

(21,000) 

6,000 

Estimated liquid assets for a period of one year after 22 September 2022 

Liquid assets balance al 22 September 2022 

1 
Collections and payments foreseen unl il 22 September 2023 

1 

, Projected liquid assets balance at 22 September 2023 

31 ,234 

61 ,440 

92,674 
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(d) On 28 November 2022, the Board of Directors decided to distribute the interim dividend out 
of distributable profit at 31 October 2022 amounting to 26,000 thousand euros, equivalent to 
0.7976 euros per share, paid on 01 December 2022, through the partial offsetting ofthe loan 
that the Company has granted to the Sole Shareholder (see note 17). 

Pursuant to the Consolidated Text of the Corporate Enterprises Act, the aforementioned 
distribution was prepared based on profits at 31 October 2022 and the following forecast 
cash statement for the one-year period from the date of adoption of the distribution 
agreement: 

Tax net result until 31 October 2022 

Allocation to the legal reserve 

Distributable profit at 31 October 2022 

lnterim dividend distributed 

lnterim dividend to be distributed 

Estimated liquid assets for a period of one year after 28 November 2022 

Liquid assets balance at 28 November 2022 

Collections and payments foreseen until 28 November 2023 

Projected liquid assets balance at 28 November 2023 

rhousancts of 

53,925 

53,925 

(27,000) 

26,000 

23,458 

61,484 

84,942 

(e) The distribution of profit corresponding to the financia! year ended 31 December 2021 , 
carried out during 2022, is shown in the statement of total changes in equ ity , which forms an 
integral part of these Annual accounts 

4. RECOGNITION AND VALUATION RULES 

The main recognition and measurement standards applied by the Company in the preparation of 
the Annual accounts for the year ended on 31 December 2022 were as follows: 

(a) Intangible fixed assets 

(i) Concession arrangements 

Based on the concession terms for the services rendered by the Company, th is 
arrangement falls within the framework of the intangible fixed asset measurement and 
recognition model, as the consideration received comprises a right to receive the 
corresponding tariffs based on the degree of use of the public service. This right is not 
unconditional , and depends on the capacity and willingness of the users to use the 
infrastructure. Therefore, the Company assumes a demand risk. The features of th is 
arrangement are as follows: 

o The concession grantor controls or regulates what public services the concession 
operator must provide with the infrastructure, to whom it must provide them and at 
what price; and 

o The concession grantor controls any significan! residual ownership of t e 
infrastructure at the end of the concession period. 

The services that the Company renders within the framework of the concessi n 
arrangement consist of the improvement, operation and maintenance of the infrastructu e 
during th e term of the arrangement, in exchange for remuneration . 

.-~~~~~~~~~+-~~---. 
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lnfrastructure acquired from third parties is recognised asan intangible fixed asset at fair 
value, although no income is recognised. 

Thís intangible asset is systematically and rationally amortised, once the infrastructure is 
operational, on a straight-line basis over the term of the concession. 

The contractual obligations assumed by the Company to ensure that the infrastructu re is 
maintained in a suitable condition to adequately render the service during the period of 
operation, require that systematic provision be made following the criteria described in 
note 4 (1). Maintenance works are recognised asan expense when incurred. 

Work undertaken to improve or increase the capacity of assets should be considered as. 
a new concession . Nonetheless, if in view of the terms of the arrangement the Company 
considers that these initiatives wi ll not be offset by the possibility of obtaining higher 
income from the date on which they are carried out, a provision far dismantling or removal 
is recognised. This provision is equal to the best estímate of the present value of the 
disbursement required to settle the obligation associated with the aforementioned 
initiatives, and the balancing entry is an increase in the cost of the intangible fixed asset. 
When the initiatives are carried out, the provision is cancelled and the corresponding 
income is recogn ised provided that the Company renders the construction service. The 
proportional part of the upgrade or increase in capacity expected to be recovered through 
the generation of higher fu tu re income is recognised using the general accounting 
treatment described above. 

Pursuant to the powers of inspection attributed to the government representative in the . 
Association of Spanish Toll Road Concession Companies by virtue of clause 49 of Decree 
215/1973 of 25 January, which approves the General Terms far the Construction, 
Maintenance and Operation of Toll Roads under a concession arrangement, the balance 
sheets that the concession operator prepares should show the costs of intangible fi xed 
assets and property , plant and equ ipment befare accumulated amortisation and 
depreciation, followed by the deduction of the corresponding amortisation and 
depreciation, as well as any impairment. In accordance with these instructions, the 
historical breakdown of the "concession arrangements, regulated assets" line item has 
been identified specifically at the values of the farmer Ministerial Order EHA 10/12/98 at 
the transition date. Consequently , this information has been included in the 
accompanying balance sheet for 2022 and 2021. 

(ii) Capitalised borrowing costs 

Once recognised in the income statement, costs incurred by the concession operator to 
finance the infrastructure should be classified for accounting purposes as a regulated 
asset provided there is reasonable evidence that the tariff (public price) will enable these 
costs to be recovered. Therefore, from the date on which the infrastructure is available 
far use, borrowing costs on non-group financing , whether specific or general, directly 
attributable to the construct ion, are capital ised, as long as these costs meet the ~ 

requirements defined in the Accounting Framework far the recognition of an asset, i. e. , 
they can be identified separately and reliably measured, and there is reasonable evidence 
and it is probable that the capitalised costs will be offset against future income. 

The Company considers that there is reasonable evidence that the aforementioned costs 
will be recovered through the tariffs of future years provided that, in add ition to being 
included in the Financia! Plan, it could obtain future income at least equal to the borrowing.' 
costs capitalised through their inclusion as permitted costs far the purposes of 
determining the tariff, and evidence exists that fu ture income wi ll enable the recovery o~ 
the costs incurred previously. 

In order to calculate the amount of capi talised borrowing costs to be recognised under 
"Concession arrangements, capitalised borrowing costs - Intangible fi xed assets-", 
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Company should take into account the indicators of the Financia! Plan of the concession 
arrangement or a similar document used as reference to set the service price or tariff. 
Operating income as a percentage of total income is calculated for each year forecast. 
This percentage is applied to the total amount of borrowing costs forecast for the 
concession period to determine the balance to be allocated to each financia! year as 
financia! costs for the period. lf the actual income generated during ayear exceed forecast 
income, the aforementioned percentage is determined for that year based on the ratio of 
actual income to total forecast income, which generally requires an adjustment to the 
amount recognised for the prior year. 

(iii) Other intangible fixed assets 

Other intangible assets include administrative concessions and computer software, which 
are stated at cost of acquisition minus any accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. 

The above-mentioned intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised on a 
systematic basis over their estimated useful lives, which are between four and ten years. 
Their recoverability is analysed when events or changes occur that indicate that the 
carrying amount might not be recoverable. Amortisation methods and periods are 
reviewed at each year end and adjusted prospectively, as required. 

(b) Property, plant and equipment 

Property , plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or production minus any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line 
basis over the average estimated years of useful life of the assets or over the concession 
term, where appropriate, as fol lows: 

Buildings 

Technical facilit ies and machinery 

Other facilities , fixtures and furniture 

Other property, plant and equipment 

Years 

50 

7 - 10 

10 

4 - 14 

Repairs and maintenance costs which do not improve the related assets or extend their 
useful lives are expensed when incurred. 

At each year end, the Company reviews the useful lives and depreciation methods of its 
property, plant and equipment and, if necessary, adjusts them prospectively. 

(c) lmpairment of non-financia! assets 

The Company evaluates whether there are indications of possible impairment losses on non
financial assets subject to amortisation or depreciation to verify whether the carry ing amount 
of these assets exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
the fair value minus costs to sell and the value in use. 

In determining value in use, future expected cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market estimates as regards the time value 
of money and the specific risks of the asset. In the case of the Company, its assets do not 
generate cash flows that are highly independent of other assets, and therefore the 
recoverable amount is determined for the only cash-generating unit identified to which ali the 
assets belong. 

lmpairment losses are recognised for ali assets, or, where applicable, for the cash generati g 
units to which they belong, when their carrying amount exceeds their estimated recovera le 
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amount. These impairment losses are recognised in the income statement and reversed if.
the circumstances in which they were recognised no longer exist. The reversa! of impairment 
is recognised in the income statement and on ly up to the limit of the carrying amount of the 
asset net of amortisation and depreciation had impairment not been recognised. 

(d) Financia! instruments 

(i) Financia! assets 

Financia! assets at amortised cost 

This category incorpora les those financia! assets, including those admitted to trading on 
an organised market, in which the Company maintains the investment with a view to 
receiving cash flows deriving from performance of the contract and the contractua l terms 
of the financia! asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows which are solely receipts 
of principal and interest on the outstanding principal amount. 

The contractual cash flows which are solely receipts of principal and interest on the 
outstanding principal amount are inherent in an agreement which has the nature of an 
ordinary or common loan, without prejudice to the fact that the transaction conforms to 
an interest rate of zero or below the market rate. 

This category includes trade receivables and non-trade receivables: 

(a) Trade receivables : these are financia! assets which derive from the sale of goods 
and the rendering of services owing to trade transactions of the company with a 
deferred payment. 

(b) Non-trade receivables: these are financia! assets wh ich, as they are not equity nor 
derivative instruments, are not of a trade origin and their payments are far a given 
or determinable amount, deriving from loan or credit transactions granted by the 
company. 

Financia! assets class1fied under this category are initially recognised at fair value which, 
in the absence of ev1dence to the contrary, shall be the transaction price, which is 
equivalent to the fair value of the consideration received, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

Nonetheless, trade receivables due within one year for which there is no specific 
contractual interest rate, as well as staff receivables, dividends receivable and called-up 
equity instruments expected to be settled in the short term are measured at their nominal· 
amount, provided that the effect of not discounting the cash flows is immaterial. 

Subsequently , the financia! assets included under this category shall be valued at their 
amortised cost. Accrued interest is recognised in the income statement using the effective 
interest rate method. 

, 
Nonetheless, any receivables due within one year which, pursuant to the provisions of 
the previous section, are initially valued at their nominal value, shall continue to be valued 
at said amount, unless they have been impaired. 

When the contractual cash flows of a financia! asset are modified owing to financia! 
difficulties of the issuer, the company shall analyse whether there are grounds to post a 
loss owing to a value impairment. 

At least upan year closure, the necessary impairment must be carried out whenever there 
is objective evidence that the value of a financia! asset, or of a group of financia! assets 
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with similar risk characteristics valued collectively, has been impaired as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after its initial recognition and which bring about a reduction 
or delay in estimated future cash flows which derive from the insolvency of the debtor. 

Any loss owing to an impairment in the value of these financia! assets shall be the 
difference between their book value and the present value of the future cash flows, 
includ ing, where applicable, those deriving from the enforcement of real guarantees and 
collateral which it is estimated will be generated, discounted at the effective interest rate 
calculated at the time of their initial recognition. For variable interest financia! assets, the 
effective interest rate at the reporting date will be used, in accordance with contractual 
terms. When calculating losses owing to the impairment of a group of fi nancia! assets, 
models based on statistical methods or formulas may be used. 

lmpairment losses, as well as their reversa! when the amount of said loss falls for reasons 
related with a subsequent event, shall be recognised as an expenses or income, 
respectively, in the income statement. The impairment reversa! will be limited to the book 
value of the asset that would have been recognised on the date of the reversa! had the 
impairment not been recognised . 

Nonetheless, instead of the present value of future cash flows, market value may be used 
provided that it is sufficiently reliable to consider it as representative of the amount that 
would be recovered by the Company. 

The recognition of interest in financia! assets with credit impairment shall fo llow the 
general rules, without prejudice to, concurrently, the company having to evaluate whether 
said amount shall be subject to recovery and, where applicable, posting the attendant 
impairment loss. 

Any income from interest on financia! assets valued at amortised cost is recognised using 
the effective interest rate method. When a receivable suffers a loss owing to value 
impairment, the Company reduces the book value to its recoverable amount, discounting 
the future estimated cash flows at the original effective interest rate of the instrument and 
it will continue to apply the discount as a reduction in income from interest. lncome from 
interest on loans which have suffered losses owing to value impairment are recognised 
using the effective interest rate method. 

lnterest and dividends received from financia! assets 

lnterest and dividends from financia! assets accruing subsequently to the time of acquisition 
shall be recognised as income in the income statement. 

With this in mind, the amount of any explicit interest accrued and not matured at said time 
shall be posted separately , in line with their maturity, under the initial valuation of fina ncia! 
assets, as well as the amount of the dividends agreed upon by the competent body at the 
time of acquisition. "Explicit interest" shall be taken to mean the interest obtained from 
applying the contractual interest rate of the financia! instrument. 

In addition, if the distributed dividends unequivocally derive from results generated prior to 
the acquisition date because amounts that are higher than the profits generated by the 
investee since the acquisition have been distributed, they will not be recognised as income 
and will reduce the investment's carrying amount. 

The judgement as to whether profits have been generated by the investee shall be made 
solely considering the profits posted under the individual income statement as from the 
acquisi tion date, unless the distribution charging to said profits should undoubtedly be 
classified as a recovery of the investment from the perspective of the entity that receives the 
dividend. 
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Reclassification of financia! assets 

When the company changes the way in which it manages its financia ! assets to generate 
cash flows, it shall reclassify ali the assets assigned in accordance with the criteria 
determined in the previous sections. Reclassifica tion of category is not a balance sheet 
recognition event, but rather a change in the va luation criterion. 

To th is end, changes deriving from the following circumstances are not reclassifications: 

(a) When an element which was previously an effective, designated hedging instrument 
in a cash flow hedge or in a net investment hedge in a foreign transaction , has ceased 
to comply with the requirements to be regarded as such. 

(b) When an element becomes an effective, designated hedging instrument in a cash 
flow hedge or in a net investment hedge in a foreign transaction. 

Derecoqnition of financia! assets 

When analysing tran sfers of financia! assets, due consideration should be paid to the 
economic reality and not only to its legal form, nor to the name of the contracts. 

The company shall derecognise a financia! asset, or part thereof, when they expire or the 
contractual rights to the cash flows of the financia! asset have been assigned, with it being 
necessary for the risks and benefits inherent in their ownership to have been substantially 
transferred, under circumstances which shall be evaluated by comparing the company 
exposure befare and after assignment with the variation in the amounts and in the net cash 
flow schedule of the asset transferred . lt sha ll be assumed that the risks and benefits inherent 
in the ownership of the financia! asset have been substantially assigned when their exposure: 
to said variation ceases to be significan! with regard to the total variation in the present value 
of future net cash flows associated with the financia! asset (such as definitive sales of assets, 
assignments of trade receivables in "factoring" operations in which the company does not 
reta in any credit risk nor interest, sales of financia! assets with a buyback agreement for their 
fair value and securitisations of financia! assets in which the assignor company does not 
retain any subordinated financing nor grant any type of guarantee or assume any other type 
of risk). 

lf the company has not substantially assigned nor retained the risks and benefits, the 
financia! asset shall be derecognised when it has not retained con trol thereof, a situation 
which shall be determined in line with the unilateral capacity of the assignee to transfer said 
asset, fully and without imposing conditions, to an unrelated th ird party . lf the assignor 
company maintains control of the asset, it shall continue to recognise it for the amount to 
which the company is exposed to variations in value of the asset assigned, in other words, 
for its continued involvement, and it shall recognise an associated liability. 

When the financia! asset is derecognised, the difference between the consideration received 
net of the attributable transaction costs, considering any new asset obtain minus any liability 
assumed, and the book value of the financia! asset shall determine the gain or loss arising 
when derecognising said asset, and it shall form part of the profiUloss for the financia! yearj 
in which it occurs. 

The above criteria shall also be applied in transfers from a group of fi nancia! assets or part. 
thereof. 

The company shall not derecognise the financia! assets and it shall recognise a fin, ncial 
liability for a sum equal to the consideration received in the assignments of financia! a sets! 
in which it has substantially retained the risks and benefits inherent in their ownership, 1 uch 

Autopistas del Atlántico. Concesionaria Espai1ota, 2022 Annuph'\<:'CPftArt~~ÍTEZ MA' Tl~EZ 
TRADUCTORA-INTERPRETE JURA )A Dt. il~GLt.S 

núm,_ ,V v~V 



AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁ NTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

as in the discounting of bills, "recourse factoring", sales of financia! assets with a buyback 
agreement at a fixed price or at sale price plus interest and uses of financia! assets in which 
the assignor company retains subordinated financing or sorne other type of guarantees 
which substantially absorb all the expected losses. 

(ii) Financia! liabilities 

The financia! liabilities held by the Company are classified under the category of "Financia! 
liabilities at amortised cost" which , generally speaking, include debits from trade operations 
and debits from non-trade operations: 

(a) Debts from trade operations: these are those financia! liabilities which derive from the 
purchase of goods and services owing to trade transactions of the company with a 
deferred payment, and 

(b) Debts from non-trade operations: these are those financia! liabilities which, not being 
derivative instruments, do not have a commercial origin, but rather derive from credit 
or loan transactions received by the company. 

Participative loans endowed with the characteristics of an ordinary or common loan are also 
included under this category without prejudice to the agreed interest rate (zero or below the 
market rate). 

~Financia! liabilities included under this category shall initially be valued at their fa ir value 
. which, unless preven otherwise, shall be the transaction price, which shall be equivalent to 
the fair value of the consideration received , adjusted by the transaction costs directly 

. attributable to them. 

Nonetheless, trade payables due within one year far which there is no contractual interest 
rate, and called-up equity holdings expected to be settled in the short term are measured at 
their nominal amount, provided that the effect of not discounting the cash flows is immaterial. 

Subsequently , the financia! liabilities included under this category shal l be valued at their 
amortised cost. Accrued interest is recognised in the income statement using the effective 
interest rate method. 

Notwithstanding with the above, debits maturing in no later than one year which, in 
accordance with the provisions of the previous section, are initially valued at their nominal 
value, shall continue to be va lued for said amount. 

Derecognition of financia! liabilities 

The company shall derecognise a financia ! liability , or part thereof, when the obligation has 
been extinguished; in other words, when it has been paid , cancelled or has expired. lt shall 
also derecognise any specific financia! liabilities it acquires, even if with the intention of 
placing them again in the future. 

lf there is any swap in debt instruments between a lender and a borrower, provided that they 
have substantially different conditions, the derecognition of the original financia! liabi lity will 
be posted and any new financia! liability that arises will be recognised. In the same way, a 
substantial modification in the present conditions of a financia! liability will be posted. 

The difference between the book value of the financia! liability or part thereof which has~ een 
derecognised and the consideration paid , including any costs or fees incurred and inclu füg 
any asset assigned other than the cash or liability assumed, shall be recognised in the 
income statement for the financia! year in which it takes place. 
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In the event of an exchange of debt instruments that do not have substantially different terms, 
the original financia! l1ability shall not be derecognised from the balance sheet. Any 
transaction cost or fee 1ncurred shall adjust the book value of the financia! liability . As from 
this date, the amortised cost of the financia! liability shall be determined by applying the 
effective interest rate which is equal to the book value of the financia! liability with the cash 
flows payable in accordance with the new conditions. 

For these purposes, the terms of the contracts shall be regarded as substantially different, 
amongst other cases, when the present value of the cash flows of the new contract, including 
any fee paid, net of any fee received, differs by at least ten per cent from the present value 
of the remaining cash flows of the original contract, with both amounts being updated at the 
effective interest rate of the latter. Certain alterations to the determination of cash flows may 
not exceed this quantitat ive ana lysis, but they may also give rise to a substantial modification 
in the liability , such as: a change from fixed interest rate to variable in the remuneration of 
the liability, the restatement of the liability in a different currency, a loan ata fixed interest 
rate which becomes a participative loan, amongst other cases. 

(e) lnventories 

Inventaries are measured at purchase cost. The purchase price comprises the amount 
invoiced by the seller, after deduction of any discounts, as well as other costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of inventories. 

The Company uses th e weighted average cost method to measure its inventories. 

(f) Cash and cash equ ivalents 

This line-item includes cash on hand, current bank accounts, deposits and temporary 
acquisition of assets that meet all the following requirements: 

• They are convertible into cash. 

• They have a maturity of three months or less u pon acquisition. 

• They are not subject to a significant risk of changes in value. 

• They form part of the Company's usual cash management policy. 

(g) lncome tax 

The corporate income tax expense or income includes both current and deferred taxes. 

The financia! year's corporate income tax expense or income is calculated as the sum of the 
current tax, which results from applying the corresponding tax rate to the financia! year's tax 
base after applying the existing rebates and deductions, and the variation in deferred tax 
assets and liabi li ties recorded in the accounts. 

The deferred tax income or expense corresponds to the recognition or cancellation o( 
deferred tax assets and liabilities. These arise as a result of the different valuation, either 
accounting or fiscal , attributed to the assets and liabilities and certain Company equity 
instruments, insofar as they have a future fiscal effect, as well as the negative tax bases 
recognised or applied. 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
1 

to or recovered from the tax authorities, in accordance with the regulations and rates in force 
or approved and pending publication at year-end. 

1 

Current and deferred income taxis recognised in the income statement, unless it comes fr im 
a transaction or economic event that has been recognised in the same year or in anotl er 
year under equity or a business combination . 
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(i) Recognition of deferred tax liabilities 

The Company recognises the deferred tax liabilities in all cases, except when they arise from 
the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is nota business 
combination and does not affect the carrying amount or the tax base at the transaction date. 

(i i) Recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are only recognised insofar as it is considered likely that the Company 
is going to have future tax gains to offset the aforementioned assets or when the tax 
legislation envisages the possibility of the future conversion of deferred tax assets into a 
credit enforceable vis-a-vis the Public Administration. 

The Company recognises the conversion of a deferred tax asset into a credit payable to the 
Public Administration when this is enforceable in accordance with the provisions of the 
prevailing tax legislation. For these purposes, the deferred tax asset is recognised with a 
charge to deferred income tax expense and the account receivable is credited to current 
income tax. Likewise, the Company recognises the swap of a deferred tax asset for public 
debt securities when their ownership is acquired. 

In the absence of proof to the contrary, it is not considered probable that the Company will 
have future taxable profits when it is foreseen that their futu re recovery will occur more than 
ten years from the closing date of the fiscal year. This is regardless of the nature of the 
deferred tax asset or if they are credits arising from deductions and other fiscal advantages 
pending tax application due to insufficient quota, when the activity has taken place or the 
yield resulting from the right to the deduction or allowance has been obtained, there are 
reasonable doubts about compliance with the requirements to make them effective. 

The Company only recognises the deferred tax assets arising from tax losses qualifying for 
carryforward insofar as it is likely that future tax gains will be obtained that will offset them 
within the period established in the applicable tax legislation, with a maximum of ten years, 
unless there is proof that they will be recovered within a longer deadline, when the tax 
legislation enables the carryforward in a longer period or does not establish any time limits 
regarding the carryforward. 

On the other hand, it is considered likely that the Company will have sufficient tax gains to 
recover the deferred tax assets when there is a sufficient amount of taxable timing 
differences related to the same tax authority and referring to the same taxpayer, whose 
reversa! is expected to be in the same tax year as the reversa! expected of the deductible 
timing differences or in the years in which a tax loss, arising from a deductible timing 
difference, can be offset with prior or subsequent gains. 

The Company recognises the deferred tax assets that have not been recognised because 
they exceed the ten-year recovery period insofar as the future reversa! period does not 
exceed ten years from the year-end of the financia! year or when there is a sufficient amount 
of taxable timing differences. 

To determine the future tax gains, the Company takes into account the tax planning 
opportunities provided that it plans or is likely to adopt them. 

(iii) Measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax ra tes expected at the tir ie 
of their reversa!, in accordance with the approved standard in force, and according to t e 
form in which the deferred tax asset or liability is rationally expected to be recovered or pai t 
For such purposes, the Company considers the deduction for reversa! of the temperé y 

Autopistas del Atlántico, Concesionaria Española, 2022 Annual ~ccou~!~ ~~JTEZ MAi TfNEZ 
TRADUCTORA-INTÉRPRETE JURA )A DE il~GLtS 

númeroi...-:i~,,..~,.~--

' 
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measures implemented in transitional provision thirty-seven of Corporate lncome Tax Act 
27/2014 of 27 November as an adjustment to the tax rate applicable to the deductible timing 
difference associated wi th the non-deductibility of the redemptions made in 2013 and 2014. 

Adjustments to the deferred tax asset and liability measurements are allocated to the income 
statement, except to the extent that the affected deferred tax assets and liabilities have their 
origin in book entries made directly to equity . 

(iv) Offsetting and classification 

Oeferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet as non-current 
assets and liabilities, regardless of the expected realisation or settlemen t date. 

(v) Consolidated tax system 

Since 1 January 2009, the Company has filed its taxes as part of the consolidated tax group 
36/09 where ITÍNERE is the parent company . 

Since the Company files its corporate income tax under the consolidated tax system, it 
recognises the corporate income tax balances in the accounts w ith group companies and 
associates on the attached balance sheet. The corporate income tax expense or income of 
the companies filed under the tax consolidation system is established by taking into account 
not only the parameters to be considered in the case of individual taxes, as indicated above, 
but also the following : 

o The timing and permanent differences as a result of cancelling the profit or loss on 
transactions between group companies, deriving from the process of establishing 
the consolidated tax base. 

o The rebates and deductions and the tax losses that correspond to each company in 
the tax group that pay tax under the consolidated tax return system will be attributed 
to the company that carried out the activity or obtained the necessary income to earn 
the right to the tax rebate or deduction. 

The timing differences arising from eliminating the profit between the companies in the same 
tax group are recognised by the company that generales the results and measured by th e 
applicable tax rate. 

Regarding the tax losses from sorne group companies that have been offset by the other 
companies in the consol idated group, a reciproca! credit and debit arises between the 
corresponding compan ies and the companies that offset them. lf there is a tax loss that 
cannot be offset by the other companies in the consol idated tax group, such tax credits 
losses far carryforward are recognised as deferred tax assets, considering the tax group as 
the taxpayer for their recovery. 

(h) lncome and expenses 

lncome and expenses are allocated based on when the actual flow of goods and services 
that they represen! occurs. regardless of when the monetary or financia ! flow ansing 
therefrom takes place. 

lncome is recognised when the control of the goods or services is transferred to clients. At 
this time, the income is recorded at the amount of the consideration far which it is expected 
to have the right to a change in the transfer of the committed goods and services under . 
contracts with cl ients , as well as other non-derivative income from contracts with clients 
which constitute the ord inary activity of the Company. The amount recorded is determined 
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by deducting the amount of the consideration far the transfer of the goods and services 
committed to clients or other income pertaining to the ordinary activities of the Company, the 
amount of the discounts, refunds, price reductions, incentives or rights handed over to 
clients, as well as value-added tax and other taxes directly related with them which must be 
subject to repercussions. 

Toll income is recogn ised as vehicles use the toll road. A portian of income carne from the 
State in accordance with the leg islation to this effect (see note 8). Toll tariffs are revised 
annually pursuant to Act 14/2000 of 29 December (see note 5 (a)). 

Pursuant to Royal Decree 104/2013 of 8 February, in force until 29 July 2021, the Company 
gave rebates to users of the Vigo-Pontevedra section, and are compensated under the terms 
of the corresponding agreement (since 31 October 2018) . Likewise, from said date, the 
extraord inary review of tariffs corresponding to Royal Decree 1733/2011 (see notes 1 (a) 
and (e)). 

Commissions on credit sales (cards or Vía T devices) are recognised under Externa! services 
in the income statement. 

(i) Environmental assets 

The Company takes measures to prevent, reduce or repair the damage caused to the 
environment by its activities. 

Costs derived from environmental activities are recognised as expenses when incurred, 
except when they correspond to items which are included in the Company's non-current 
assets, in which case they are recognised in property , plant and equipment and depreciated 
in accordance with the criteria far property , plant and equipmen t. 

(j) Supplementary pensions 

The Company supplements the Social Security pensions of employees who joined the 
workfarce befare 29 March 1990. 

In accordance with prevailing legislation, the Company outsourced the afarementioned 
pension commitments in 2000 through collective insurance policies and has paid all the 
insurance premiums in respect of these commitments at that date. 

The Company classifies its pension commitments as defined contribution plans as it makes 
predetermined contributions to an insurer and has no further contractual obligations. The 
contributions are charged to the income statement on an accrual basis. Net amounts of the 
annual premiums accrued that in financia! year 2022 meant an income record of 111 
thousand euros (1 48 thousand euros in financia! year 2021) (see note 20). 

(k) Subsidies, donations and bequests received 

(1) 

This item reflects the difference between the amount received and the fair value at which 
the Company initially recognised the refundable advances far investment it received (see 
note 1 (c)), which will be repaid, in accordance with the terms and conditions established in 
the pertinent regulations, in the five years subsequent to the first year in which the Company 
has completely repaid its Group and externa! borrowings and, in any case, befare the end 
of the concession term, as the difference is considered as a subsidy associated with 
"intangible fixed assets, concession arrangement''. They are charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis, simi larly to the redemption of the concession agreement 
, bearing in mind the purpose far which the refunda ble advance was granted, in other words, 
for the financing of the construction of the infrastructure (see note 4 (a) (i)) . 

r· 
l Provisions PILAR BENITEZ MARTIN 
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Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) . 
as a result of a past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estímate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estímate of the expenditure required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account all risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the amount to be recognised as a provision and, where the 
time value of money is material , the financia! effect of discounting provided that the 
expenditure to be made each period can be reliably estimated. The discount rate is a pre
tax rate that reflects the time value of money and the specific risks for which future cash 
flows associated with the provision have not been adjusted at each reporting date. The 
financia! effect of provisions is recognised as a financia! expense in the income statement. 

lf it is not probable that an outflow of resources wi ll be required to settle an obligation, the 
provision is reversed . 

The Company has certain contractual obligations relating to the ongoing wear and tear of 
infrastructure. For example, it is required to maintain the infrastructure in suitable conditions 
for the services and activities for which it was built to be carried out satisfactorily, and to 
return the infrastructure to a certain condition befare it reverts to the corresponding authority 
at the end of the concession term. The Company plans for these obligations in the 
development of its schedule of replacement and majar repair works. 

These contractual obligations are recognised and measured in accordance with recognition 
and measurement standard 15 of the Spanish General Chart of Accounts, on provisions and 
contingencies and booked under provisions for infrastructure maintenance in the 
accompanying balance sheet (see note 12). 

Provision is released as the maintenance activities are performed. 

(m) Transactions between related parties 

Related-party transactions are recognised at the fair value of the consideration given or 
received , in accordance with the above-mentioned measurement standards. 

(n) Current and non-curren! assets and liabilities 

Assets and liabilities are classified as current and non-current in the ba lance sheet. Assets 
and liabilities are classified as current when: they are linked to the Company's normal 
operating cycle and they are expected to be sold , consumed, realised or settled within this· 
period; when they are expected to mature or be disposed of or realised within a maximum of 
one year, or; they are held for trading or comprise cash and cash equivalents to be used 
within a 12-month period. 

(o) Severance pay 

Severance payments in case of involuntary termination are recognised when there is formal 
detailed plan and a valid expectation has been generated between the personal affected by 
the termination of employment, either because the plan has already been implemented or' 
for having announced its main characteristics. Benefits that have remain unpa id for ore 
than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to the related pre ent 
value. : 

r-- -
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AUTOPISTAS DEL A TLÁ NTICO, Concesionaria Esp añola, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

¡5. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

The detail and movement are as follows: 

Advanccs 

ConcossiM Concession undcr 

arrangements arrangement, conccssion Research and 
Rights and 

, regulated capitalisation 
arrangcme devolopmont concossions ,, 

asscts (note 19) nts, expenses 
regulated 

asscts 
Thousands of euros 

Cost at 31 December 2020 1,513,330 381,159 22 100 191 

Add1toons 18 27 869 2 

D1sposals (30.149) 

Cosl al 31 Deccmber 2021 1,483,199 409,028 24 100 191 

Accumulaled amortisallon al 31 Decombcr 2020 (360,007) (100) (191) 

Add1hons (41 ,686) 

Oisposals 

Accumulatcd amortisation at 31 Dcccmbcr 2021 (401,693) (100) (191) 

Nel book value al 31 Docembor 2021 1,081,506 409,028 24 

Cosl al 31 December 2021 1,483,199 409,028 24 100 191 

Add1t1ons 1,202 25839 15 

D1sposals (13,287) 

Cost al 31 Deccmbcr 2022 1,471 ,114 434,867 39 100 191 

Accumulatod amortisation at 31 Oecombcr 2021 (401,693) (100) (191) 

Add1t1ons (40,556) 

Accumulated amortisation at 31 Decomber 2022 (442,249) (100) (191) 

Nct book value at 31 Docombor 2022 1,028,865 434,867 39 

Computer 
software 

955 

(18) 

938 

(906) 

(12) 

18 

(900) 

38 

938 

10 

948 

(900) 

(15) 

(915) 

33 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 , there are no intangible fixed assets pledged as security or 
subject to ownership restrictions. 

Ali of the Company's intangible fixed assets are used in its activity and are located in Spain. 

The Company has taken out insurance policies to cover the risks to which its intangible fixed 
assets are exposed. 

At 31 December 2022, the Company has fully depreciated property, plant and equ ipment totalling 
1,168 thousand euros (1,150 thousand euros at 31December2021). 

(a) Concession arrangements, regulated assets 

As mentioned in note 1 (a), in 1973 the Company signed a concession agreement with the 
Spanish government for the construction , maintenance and operation of the toll road 
between Ferrol and Tui (on the border with Portugal). The infrastructure will rever! to the 
State on 18 August 2048. The total amount of the consideration received is expected to be 
recovered during this period, and the debt repaid . 

The infrastructure was not built by the Company but by a third party, and was therefore 1 

acquired onerously. 

Total 

1,895,757 

27,890 

(30,167) 

1 ,893,480 

(361,204) 

(41 ,698) 

18 

(402,884) 

1,490,596 

1,893,480 

27,066 

(13287) 

1,907,259 

(402,884) 

(40,571) 

(443,455) 

1 ,463,804 
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The price (tariff) that the Company collects from the users of the toll road far the public service 
rendered is regulated by the concession grantor and revised annually as established in Act 
14/2000 of 29 December. lt is adjusted far inflation (CPI) and a corrective factor that reflects 
the differences between forecast traffic and actual traffic each year. As mentioned in note 8, 
a portian of toll income collected by the Company during financia! years 2022 and 2021 
comes from the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda , as established in the 
contracts and agreements governing the concession, and other legislation enacted far this 
purpose. 

As part of the administrative report that served as the basis far the concession amendment 
introduced by Royal Decree 173/2000 of 23 February (see note 1 (a)), the Company 
presented the Spanish government with a Financia! Plan wh ich farecasts the fu ll recovery of 
the intangible fixed asset - concession arrangement, as well as the capitalised borrowing 
costs, and the debt settlement during the concession period, thus ensuri ng an adequate 
return on equity. 

On 31 January 2012, the Company submitted certain updated financia! farecasts required 
by the Spanish government, which include the amendments made to the accounting 
principies applicable to concession operators after the entry into force of Ministerial Order 
EHA/3362/2010 , of 23 December, and in which certain accounting estimates that served as 
the basis far the calculation and recognition of certain indicators were revised and updated. 
A summary of the key indicators used in the financia! projections far the period from 2011 to 
2048, expressed in mill ions of euros, is as follows: 

Heplacement 1nvestments 

Toll 1ncome 

Fonanc1al expenses 

Thousands of 
euros 

153 

9,561 

1,680 

The most signi fican! criteria applied in calculating the aforementioned indicators are as 
fallows: 

CPI: An average consumer price index of 2% per year has been estimated until the 
end of the concession period. 

Traffic : Average daily traffic (ADT) over the concession period is ca lculated taking 
into account th e traffic growth forecasts in the financia! model, which constitute the 
economic-financia l balance scenario of the concession contrae!. Traffic growth 
assumptions are one of the main pillars of the Financia! Plan because, as mentioned 
previously, they determine forecast income, and consequently, the method far 
recognising capitalised borrowing costs. 

Review of tariffs: As mentioned earlier, the tariffs to be applied by the Company .' 
are reviewed in accordance with a formula set out in Act 14/2000 of 29 December 
which, aside from the CPI far the previous year, includes a corrective factor based 
on the differences between forecast and actual ADT. 

Toll income: Toll income is obtained by applying traffic growth assumptions and 
tariff reviews. 

Operating expenses : Generally speaking, operating expenses fluctuate in line withi 
the CPI. 

Financia! expenses: Financia! costs are determined considering a debt structure . 
consisting of non-current low-tax debenture issues. Similar terms and conditions to 
the issues by the Company in 2011 have been considered far refinancing throughout 
the term of the concession (see note 13). 

Replacement investments: The Company has prepared a non-current action plan 
far the infrastructure throughout the concession period, and until the infrastru ture _ ...... ---·--
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reverts to the concession grantor, designed to ensure the adequate rendering of 
services that constitute its corporate purpose. This plan serves as a basis far the 
systematic recognition of a provision based on infrastructure use and until these 
actions are required, which are the result of the ongoing wear and tear of the asset 
and the obligation to maintain the infrastructure in a suitable condition (see note 12). 

As mentioned in note 1 (a), in 2011 the Company entered into an agreement with the ministry 
of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda to increase the capacity of certain sections of the 
toll road (the Santiago de Compostela ring road and the access to Vigo including the Rande 
Bridge) which was ratified by Royal Decree 1733/2011 of 18 November. 

To compensate the concession company far the investments to be made and the higher 
costs of this work, the aforementioned Royal Decree 1733/2011 envisages an increase in 
tariffs pursuant the criteria established in the afarementioned Royal Decree, as an 
exceptional measure, which will remain in force until ali the investment in the extension and 
the related maintenance and other costs, including the relevant tax effects, have been 
compensated. 

The compensation of these investments and their associated costs is calculated through the 
capitalised value at an annual rate of 8% of the cash flow associated with this project up to 
the end of the concession period. This compensation does not include the amount of the 
capitalisation of net financia! expenses which, until 31 December 2017, far a total of 50,048 
thousand euros or the costs incurred on the Sigüeiro junction far an amount of 6,224 
thousand euros, which will be recovered by collecting the toll from users making new 
journeys. The works of this junction were commissioned on 28 July 2017. 

As at 31 December 2022 the amount pertaining to said works to expand capacity , deducting 
the contributions made by the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda in 2021 and 
2022 (see note 1 (f)), amounts to 185, 168 thousand euros (198,077 thousand euros as at 31 
December 2021) and it forms part of the compensation considered in the afarementioned 
Royal Decree 1733/2011 . 

As explained in note 1 (e), to re-establ ish the economic and financia! equilibrium of the 
Company the aggregate amount resulting from applying Royal Decree 1733/2011 and Royal 
Decree 104/2013 of 8 February should be calculated (see notes 1 (a) and (e)). 

The registrations posted in 2022 mainly pertain to the process to expropriate the siles 
required to carry out the construction project involving road replacement in Chapela (stretch 
between O Morrazo junction-Teis junction), related with the Addendum to the agreement 
approved by Royal Decree 1733/201 1 of 18 November (Royal Decree 1359/2018 of 29 
October), as well as the implementation of certain actions related with Royal Decree 
681/2021 of 29 July, such as the construction of lay-bys far traffic incidents on the 
Redondela-Vigo stretch and the installation of variable message panels around Vigo .. The 
derecognitions recorded in 2022 and 2021 mainly refer to the contribution that AUDASA 
received from the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda in December 2022 and 
December 2021, in accordance with the provisions of article 4 of Royal Decree 681/2021 , 27 
July, far the amounts of 13,067 thousand euros and 30,148 thousand euros, respectively , 
with a view to reducing the balance pending compensation envisaged in Royal Decree 
1733/2011 , 18 November (see note 1 (f)) . 

11 
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(b) Concession arrangements, capitalisation 

For borrowing costs on non-group financing , whether specific or general , directly attributable 
to the construction , which are incurred once the infrastructure is operational, the Company 
performs a yearly compliance analysis of the asset recognition requirements set out in the 
Conceptual Accounting Framework, in order to capitalise these borrowing costs. The 
borrowing costs capitalised in 2022 amount 25,839 thousand euros (27,869 thousand euros 
in 2021) (see note 19) 

(c) lmpairment of the concession agreement 

As at year-end 2022, the Company had not identified the existence of any signs of 
impairment of its intangible assets in the concession agreement. Notwithstanding the above, 
in view of the nature ot the business undertaken by the Company, the latter calculates 
annually the recoverable value of its concession-based assets, assumed to be the highest 
from between the fair value, minus the selling costs and its value in use and it verifies that 
the latter is greater than its book value as al the analysis date. To calculate this value in use, 
the Company estimated future cash inflows and outflows arising from the continued use of 
the asset, i.e., the cash flows resulting from operating it, which the Company expects to 
obtain from the concession arrangement at that date, discounted at an appropriate rate 
(weighted average capital cost-WACC), which stood at 6.08% in financia! year 2022 (5.56% 
on 31 December 2021 ). The fol lowing are considered when estimating future cash flows: 

Reasonable assumptions and best estimates of management, based on the 
information available at the date of the analysis, taking into account the economic 
conditions forecast over the remaining term of the concession, and which constitute 
its business plan The terms of the concession arrangement are also taken into 
account in this regard . 

Budgetary estimates and financia! and operating projections until the concession 
expires, annually revised by the Company. The financial-economic model pursuant. 
the Company has established the recoverable amount of its concessionary assets as 
al 31 December 2022 considers , ínter alia, estimations on the traffic increase based 
on a externally developed studio and CPI, tariffs updating, interest rates and debt 
refinancing projections. 

The analysis, revised and ratified by an independent expert, revealed that the value in use 
of the concession assets is higher than the carrying amount, thereby not being necessary to 
record any valuation adjustment al 31 December 2022. 

Likewise, and without prejudging any material risk in the variation of the key assumptions, 
the Company has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the value in use of its concession 
assets in addition to the already considered in the estimations made to make sure that their 
recoverable amount exceeds their carrying amount at year-end. That sensitivity analysis 
envisages variations in the discount rate up to +871 basic points and an increase of 0% in. 
traffic, and the results obtained show that the recovera ble amount of the concession contract 
al 31 December 2022 exceeds the book value in the envisaged scenarios. 
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(d) Measurement of the Concession Arrangement, Regulated Asset (Sale Transitional Provision 
of Ministerial Order EHA/3362/201 O). 

Pursuant to the sole transitional provision of Ministerial Order EHA/3362/201 O, approving 
standards to adapt the Spanish General Chart of Accounts far public infrastructure 
concession operators, on 1 January 2010 the Company reclassified assets related to the toll 
road investment at their carry ing amount at 31 December 2009. At the request of the 
government representative in the Association of Spanish Toll Road Concession Companies, 
the following are details of the toll road investment that formed part of property, plant and 
equipment in accordance with the previous applicable accounting legislation (Ministry of 
Economy and Finance Order of 1 O December 1998), the carrying amount of which was the 
value of the concession arrangement, regu lated asset line item under intangible fixed assets: 

Thousnl'rls of r•Jro 

Studies and projects 

Expropriation and replacing of services 

Works execution 

Operating intangible fixed assets 

Net financia! expenses 

Administrative expenses 

Site management for works 

Expenses 

Legal adjustments and revaluatoons 

Total cost 

Accumulated amortisation 
lnvestment in toll roads (Order EHA of 10/12/98) I 
Cost Concession Arrangement - Regulated assets 
(Order EHA/3362/2010) 

Batane•• at 
10 . 

18,653 

182,845 

738,636 

35,366 

105,825 

10.693 

35.030 

1,127,048 

363,484 

1,490,532 

(261 ,750) 

1,228,782 

(') Date of first-time adoption of the standards envisaged in Order 
EHA/3362/2010. Considers the adjustments up to 2022. 

In accordance with the aforementioned Ministerial Order, new investments in the toll road 
are not recognised asan asset addition, as had been previously conducted under the 1998 
legislation, except where these are far an expansion that would require a contractual 
modification. As mentioned in note 4 (1), in accordance with Ministerial Order 
EHA/3362/201 O, these initiatives are recogn ised through a systematic provision based on 
the use of the infrastructure until the aforementioned investments are finally carried out. 
Replacements and majar repairs effectively performed each year are therefore recognised 
as applications of the aforementioned provision (see note 12) . 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

6. PROPERTY, PLANT ANO EQUIPMENT 

The detail and movement are as follows: 

Technical Other racilitics, Ol her 
Lands and 

facilities and fixtures and propcrty, plant 
buildings 

machinery furniturc 
and 

Thousands of euros equípment 

Cosl al 31 December 2020 1,507 1,074 1,928 51 0 

Additions 13 32 

Oisposals (413) (643) (118) 

Cost at 31 December 2021 1,507 661 1,298 424 

Accumulated amortisation at 31 Deccmber 2020 (906) (909) (1,814) (353) 

Additions (31) (51) (25) (24) 

Disposals 382 643 110 

Accumulated amort isation al 31 December 2021 (937) (578) (1,196) (267) 

Nel book value at 31 December 2021 570 83 102 157 

Costal 31 December 2021 1,507 661 1,298 424 

Additions 13 68 34 

Oisposals (112) (4) 

Cosl al 31 December 2022 1,507 562 1,366 454 

Accu mulal ed amorlisalion at 31 Deccmber 2021 (937) (578) (1, 196) (267 ) 

Additions (32) (29) (22) (31) 

Disposals 99 4 

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2022 (969) (508) (1,218) (294) 

Nel book va lue at 31 December 2022 538 54 148 160 

Total, 

5,019 

45 

(1, 174) 

3,890 

(3,9.82) 

(131) 

1,135 

(2,978) 

912 

3,890 

115 

(116) 

3,889 

(2,978) 

(1 14) 

103 

(2,989) 

900 

At 31 December 2022, the Company has fully depreciated property, plant and equipment totalling 
1,680 thousand euros ( 1, 727 thousand euros at 31 December 2021 ). 

At 31December2022 and 2021, no items of property, plant and equipment have been pledged 
as collateral, are subject to reversa! or have ownership restrictions. 

The Company has taken ou t insurance policies to adequately cover the risks to which its property, 
plant and equipment are exposed. 

PILAR BENITEZ MARTiNEZ . 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

A breakdown of financia! assets, ali falling under the category of "Financia! assets at amortised 
1cost", is provided in the accompanying balance sheet, as follows: 

Th<>u<;. 1nd"' f ur > 

e ;isscc-

N n uri n 
ll 11 t finan al SI n 1 

C.redot 1 Crcdotsl 
Total 

Categones Dcri vatlvc:.r Ocbt sec m ties Dcrivatlvesl 
Olhe· Otner 

2CZ2 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Non-currenl fonancial assets: 

Non-current 1nves1men1s on group companies and assoc1ates 97,726 59.937 97,726 59.937 

Loans to companies (note 17) 97.726 59.937 97,726 59.937 

Non-curren! hnancoal investments 73 82 73 82 

Loans to third parties 14 23 14 23 

Other financiar assets 59 59 59 59 

Total non·current financiar assets 97.799 60,019 97,799 60,019 

Current fonancoal assets. 

Trade and other receovables 39.825 47.955 39.825 47.955 

Trade receovables for sales and services 5.080 3,739 5,080 3,739 

Group companoes and associates. receivables (note 17) 248 197 248 197 

Sundry receovables 855 986 655 966 

Staff 22 15 22 15 

Other receivables from Public Administration 33.620 43,016 33,620 43.016 

Curren! investments in group companies and associates 1,609 675 1,609 675 

Loans to companoes (note 17) 1,609 675 1.609 675 

Curren! financiar onvestments 10.007 323 409 10.330 409 

Debt securities 10,007 10.007 

Other financiar assets 323 409 323 409 

Total curren! financiar assets 10,007 41 ,757 49,039 51,764 49,039 

Total financ iar assets 97,799 60,01 9 10,007 41 ,757 49,039 149,563 109,058 

The fair values of the financia! assets at 31 December 2022 and 2021 do not differ significantly 
from their carrying amounts. 

(a) Loans to third parties 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 , loans to third parties included under non-current financia! 
investments in the attached balance sheets include the non-current portien of advances and loans 
to personnel, which accrue interest in accordance with the rate established in the collective 
bargaining agreement in force. Details of the maturities of these at 31 December 2022 and 2021 
are as follows: 

At two years 

At three years 

Total maturities 

uro.., 

12 

2 

14 

2 2 
18 PILAR B~Nt·~ez MARTfNEZ 
5 TRADUCTORA-INTtRP ~ETE JURADA Dt. 1i~GLtS 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Un ipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

(b) Other financia! assets 

As at 31 December 2022 and 202 1, other financia! assets under the non-current financia! 
investments item reflect th e amount of the guarantees granted by the Company. On the other 
hand, the other financia! assets posted as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 under the current 
financia! investments item mainly include the estimated amounts receivable for reversals accrued 
deriving from pension supplements (see notes 4 U) and 20). 

(c) Debt securities 

Debt securities include the investments made by the Company in fixed income securities, which 
accrue interest at market rates and which mature at over 3 months. The return on said securities 
as at 31 December 2022 stood atan average rate of 2.05%. 

FINANCIAL LI ABILITIES 

A breakdown of financia! liabilities, all falling under the category of "Financia! liabilities at 
amortised cost" is provided in the accompanying balance sheets, as follows: 

Cf:lr,.c,.•¡: 

1 l t 1 U'St(\ -n el\IS Curre ll f' 3 11C ..11 'l<;.t1\•i: le!ll:i 

\.>• 11 
., 111 11 d l •1 { •~bl w~lh V ··:H·ll!IH !S .ir¡d 

a!e(l·Hl"S ?· e • ~ .. 11' -i!Jf, Ü l!ll \." " (; 'l • 1 Jli~n.;1:1! O !t;f'f t.\ukctat)l8 Ou1w-i •iv .. -~ ; <.w12f:. 
,, •1f1' •s lfl"l-l'llllh~1I S S <-nJJllf' 

,, 202 · 2 l , 1 22 }~~2 t le:!:? .0;1 ?QV 2 :)) 

Current financia! liabililtes: 

Non-curren! payables 149.966 313 033 531,702 559.915 218.524 38,883 

Det>cntistes and ottler maOletable securities (note 13) 531.702 559.9 15 

Oebl w ith credil insMutions (note 14) 149.966 313 033 

Other financia) liabilities 218,524 38,883 

To tal non-current financ ia! l iabiliti es 149,9 66 3 13,033 531.702 559,915 2 18 ,524 38,883 

Current financia! liabil~ies: 

Curren! payables 1,114 928 193,601 181, 345 613 

Debentures and other mar1o;etable securilies (note 13) 193,601 181, 345 

Oebl wdh credil insli'tul ions (note 14) 1.114 928 

Other financial liabil~ies 613 
Curren! payables to group companies and associates 
(note 17) 19,666 31. 144 

Trade and other payables 9,358 9,286 

Sundry payat>les 8,459 8 ,840 

Staff 899 446 

Tota l cu rren t f inanc ia! l iabilities 1,114 928 193,601 181,345 29,637 4 0,430 

T ot al f inancia l liabilities 149,966 313,033 531,702 559.915 218.524 38,883 1,114 928 193,601 181,345 29,637 4 0,430 

The fair values of financia! liabilities at 31 December 2022 and 202 1 do not differ substantially 
from their carrying amounts. 

(a) Other non-current financia! liabil ities 

Details of th is category at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as fo llows: 

Thousands of euros 2022 2021 

Refundable adva nces 40 ,508 

~''PILAR BENITEZ M Other non-curren! debts 177,956 
TRADUCTORA-INTÉRPRETE JU 

Non-current guarantees 60 59 n úmero 325 
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2r22 20;> 

900. 192 911.831 

531,702 559.915 

149,966 313,033 

218,524 38,883 

900,192 911,83 1 

195,328 182,273 

193,601 181,345 

1, 114 928 

6 13 

19,666 144 

9 .358 9 ,286 

8 .459 8 ,840 

899 446 

224,352 222,703 

1,1 24 ,544 1, 134 ,534 



AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Soc iedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

Refundable advances: 

This line-item comprises the refundable advances extended to the Company by the government, 
the original nominal amount of which was 118,796 thousand euros. as described in note 1(c). 
These advances will be refunded within the five years subsequent to the first year that the 

i Company has fully repaid its Group and non-Group debt, which is expected to be more than five 
years from 31 December 2022 and in any case, before the end of the concession period (see 
notes 4 (k) and 11 ). 

These advances are measured at amortised cost, using an appropriate discount rate based on 
the date that the Company is expected to repay them. At 31 December 2022, the Company 

/ecognised financia! costs related to these advances of 1,685 thousand euros (1 ,615 thousand 
euros at 31 December2021 ) (see note 19). 

Other non-curren! debts 

Other non-current debts include a loan agreement paid up on 1 O May 2022 by institutional 
investors for the nominal sum of 180,300 thousand euros, ata fixed interest rate of 2.40%, set to 

.mature in 2032, and whose amount at repaid costas at 31 December 2022 stood at 177,956 
thousand euros (see note 13). 

The aforementioned loan agreement provides for certain obligations. including compliance with a 
Debt Service Coverage Ratio of no less than 1.05x, and limitations on the contracting of additional 
debt over the total current debt. 

'The Directors believe that the above clauses are fulfilled , and consequently, the lenders have no 
grounds to terminate the contract. 

Accrued interest under this loan awaiting maturity at 31 December 2022 amounted to 613 
thousand euros. These amounts are set out in the item "Curren! debts - Other financia! liabilities" 
of the attached balance sheet. 

In 2022, financia! expenses were allocated to the income statement in application of the effective 
interest rate method for an amount of 2,930 thousand euros (see note 19). 

(b) Average period for payments to suppliers. Additional provision three. "Duty of lnformation" 
of Act 15/201 O of 5 July, amended by Act 18/2022 of 28 September. 

The average period for payments to suppliers in 2022 and 2021 is shown below: 

Average period for payments to suppliers 

Ratio of transactions paid 

Ratio of transactions pending payment 

Total payments made 

Total payments made in a t imeframe shorter than the maximum determined 

Total payments pending 

Number of invoices paid in a timeframe shorter than the maximum determined 

2022 2021 

18 

19 

4 

[' º(S 

Amount 
(Thousands of 

euros) 

34 

31 

55 

30,343 

29,061 

2,627 

26,655 

4,266 

Oth r m •rmation 

Percentage of invoices paid in a timeframe shorter than the maximum determin d PIL~ BENfTEZ M RTfNEZ 
Percentage of payments made in a timeframe shorter than the maximum deter 1rtSADUCW IAA·INTÉRPRFFE JU 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL A TLÁNT/CO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 , the Company does not have any amounts pending payment on 
commercial transactions that accumulate a deferment in excess of the legal deadline as per the 
provisions of Act 3/2004 of 29 December and its subsequent amendments th rough Act 15/201 o: 
of 5 July and Royal Decree Law 4/2013 of 22 February. 

(e) Derivatives 

In 2022 and 2021, the Company did not carry out any transactions with derivatives. 

8. TRADE ANO OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Details of trade and other receivables at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as fo llows: 

Thousands of euros 

Trade receivables for sales and serv1ces 

Group companies and associates. receivables (note 17) 

Sundry receivables 

Staff 

Other receivables from Public Administration 

Trade and other receivables 

2022 

5,080 

248 

855 

22 

33,620 

39,825 

(note 7) 

2021 

3,739 

197 

988 

15 

43,016 

47,955 

(note 7) 

PILAR BENITEZ MARTI EZ . 
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A UTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Soc iedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

Details of other receivables from public administration at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as 
•follows: 

In accordance with provisions set forth in Royal Decree 633/2006, 19 May 2006, regu lating, from 
23 May 2006, the shadow toll following the removal of direct toll payments from users on the O 

Tho ... sards of euros 

Main R0633/2006 (*) 

lnterest R0633/2006 

Remuneration difference 
R0803/2017 vs RO 633/2006 
(July 2017 to Oecember 2019) 
(**) 
lnterest on remuneration 
difference R0803/2017 vs RO 
633/2006 (July 2017 to Oecember 
2019)(**) 
RO 681/2021 (*) 
Other credits 

Other receivables from Public 
Administration 

2022 2021 
VAT VAT VAT VAT 

included excluded Total included excluded Total 
MITMA 5,755 5,755 6.531 6,531 

GALICIA 
REGIONAL 

GOVERNMENT 12,310 5,755 18,065 12,310 12,310 
MITMA 104 104 98 98 

GALICIA 
REGIONAL 

GOVERNMENT 832 832 358 358 

MITMA 

MITMA 
MITMA 

12,31 o 

8,721 
143 

8,721 
143 

13,883 

21,310 33,620 32,724 

1,355 
8,347 
134 

13,883 

1,355 
8,347 
134 

10,292 43,016 

(") The data pertammg to the "Exc. VAT" column is a prov1s1on 
( .. ) Difference between what the Company would have received in accordance with RD633/2006 and that which was paid 1n accordance 
w1th RD803/2017 

Morrazo-Vigo and A Coruña-A Barcala routes and vice versa in and once the concession holder 
had installed the traffic counters, the toll collection points were eliminated and traffic counts were 
recorded . The amounts resulting from applying the toll tariffs in force (including VAT) to the traffic 
count are assumed 50:50 by the Spanish state government and the regional government of 
Galicia. 
Said Royal Decree was amended by means of Royal Decree 803/2017 of 28 July (see note 1 (d)) 
which, as a consequence of the ruling contained in the judgement passed by the Supreme Court 
number 242/2020 on 19 February 2020, was declared as null and void , re-establishing the validity 
of Royal Decree 633/2016. 

On 9 July 2021, upon expiry of the legal periods for execution of the ru ling, the Company asked 
the Supreme Court for enforcement, requesting payment of 13,883 thousand euros for the 
remuneration for 2017 (from 29 July), 2018 and 2019, with a reserve of interest accrued as a 
result of the delay. 

On 14 October 2021, the Supreme Court issued an Order whereby the General State 
Administration was sentenced to pay the Company said sum of 13,883 thousand euros, as well 
as the relevant interest which amounted to the sum of 1,355 thousand euros. Both amounts were 
paid to the Company on 7 January 2022. 

As at 31 December 2022, the amounts pending payment with regard to the shadow toll considered 
in Royal Decree 633/2006 are the following: 

(a) Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda: 

o 5, 755 thousand euros pertaining to the shadow tolls for 2022, plus the att 
interest. The amount of principal plus the attendant VAT for a total amount of 
thousand euros was received on 6 March 2023. 

PILAR BEN(T MARTfNEZ 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

(b) Ga licia Regional Government: 

o 5,779 thousand euros pertaining to the shadow tells far 2020, plus the attendant 
interest. 

o 6,531 thousand euros pertaining to th e shadow tells far 2021 , plus the attendant 
interest. 

o 5, 755 thousand euros pertaining to the shadow tells far 2022, plus the attendant 
interest. 

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the shadow income received at according to Royal Decree 
633/2006 amounted to 11 ,511 thousand euros and 1O,796 thousand euros, respectively (see note 
18). 

Furthermore, the income accruing as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 originating from the 
compensation receivable by the Company from the application of the toll rebates established in 
Royal Decree 681/2021 of 27 July amounted to 34,743 thousand euros and 13,994 thousand 
euros, respectively (see note 18). The amount pending receipt as at 31 December 2022 far the 
sum of 8,72 1 thousand euros pertained to the estimated sum of toll rebates far the last quarter of 
2022. 

The balance of trade and other receivables is shown net of any adjustments far impairment. The 
movement in this line-item in 2022 and 2021 is as follows: 

Accumulated adjustment at 1 January 

Provisions dunng the period 

Reversals for the period 

Other movements 

Accumulated adjustment al 31 December 

9. CASH ANO CASH EQUIVALENTS 

1,445 

1 ,445 

2,171 

55 

(3) 

(778) 

1,445 

Furthermore, other equivalent liquid assets include the investments made by the Company in 
fixed income securities, whrch accrue interest at market rates and which mature at under 3. 
months. The return on said securities as at 31 December 2022 stood atan average rate of 1.06%. 

10. CAPITAL ANO RESERVES 

Details of equity and movement during the year are shown in the statement of changes in equity, 
which forms an integral part of the annual accounts. 

(a) Subscribed capital 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 , the Company's capital amounted to 32,598,600 ordinary 
registered shares, each with a par value of 6.01 euros, which were fully subscribed and paid 
up. All the shares have the same voting and economic rights, are not quoted on any stock 
exchange and there are no bylaw restrictions on their transfer. All of the share capi tal is eld 
by ENA INFRAESTRUCTU RAS, S.A.U.; therefore, at 31 December 2022 and 2021, he; 
Company meets the requirements set out in the Corporate Enterprises Act far considera! n 
as a sale proprietorship, and has been entered as such in the Mercantile RegistrL .. --------. 

PILAR BENlTEZ M RTl~EZ , \ 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 

(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual A ccounts 

(b) Legal reserve 

Companies are required to transfer at least 10% of profit far the year to a legal reserve until 
this reserve reaches 20% of share capital. This reserve is not distributable to shareholders 
and may only be used to offset losses, provided no other reserves are available. 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company has allocated to this reserve the minimum 
amount required by law. 

(c) Revaluation reserves 

According to applicable legislation, the Company opted to revalue the toll road investment at 
31 December 1979, 1981 , 1983 and 1996. The amount of the resulting capital gains, save 
far 185.3 million euros , was capitalised through the issuance of fully issued shares. 

Since the tax inspection period has expired, the balance of the 1996 revaluation reserve 
(185.3 thousand euros) may be used, tax free: 

• To offset losses far the year or prior years' losses. 

• To increase capital. 

• To increase unrestricted reserves , from 31 December 2006. 

Nevertheless, the balance will only be distributable, either directly or indirectly , to the extent 
that the gains have been realised , that is, the related assets have been depreciated, 
disposed of or written off. 

On 18 December 2019, the Board of Directors unanimously agreed to allocate revaluation 
reserves totalling 16,628 thousand euros to repay negative voluntary reserves. 

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021 , the balance of the revaluation reserves amounted to 
168,694 thousand euros. 

(d) Voluntary reserves 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the voluntary reserves balance was +583 thousand euros. 

Profit recognised directly in equity cannot be distributed either directly or indirectly. 

(e) Contracts with the sale partner 

At 31 December 2022, the Company has not entered into contracts with its Sole Shareholder 
other than those stated in note 17. 

11 . SUBSIDIES, DONATIONS ANO BEQU ESTS RECEIVED 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 , the refundable advances extended to the Company are 
recognised at amortised cost, calculated at an appropriate discount rate based on the date that 
the Company is expected to repay them (see note 7). The difference between the amount 
received and the fair value, net of the related tax effect, is considered as a subsidy associated 
with the intangible fixed asset - concession arrangement. They are charged to the income 
statement on a straigh t-line basis, similarly to the redemption of the concession arrangement, 
according to the objective for which the refundable advance was granted, that is to say, far the 
financing of the construction of the infrastructure (see note 4 (a) (i) and 4 (k)). 

The detail and movement are as fallows : 

Thousands of euros 2022 2021 

PILAR BENfTE 17 MARTINEZ 
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AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersona l) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

Balance at 1 January 
Recognised in profit or loss 

n 
Balance at 31 December 

(") Net from tax effect 

53,478 

(2 ,008) 

51,470 

55,486 

(2,008) 

53,478 

In 2022 and 202 1, income totalli ng 2,677 thousand euros, were transferred to the income 
statement (see note 16). 

12. PROVISIONS FOR INFRASTRUCTURE MAINTENANCE 

As mentioned in note 4 (1) , the Company is required to comply wi th certain contractual obligations, 
which are recognised and measured based on the best estimate of the amoun t required to settle 
the obligation at the report ing date. To do so, the Company has identified future actions that 
should be performed to maintain the infrastructure in suitable conditions for the rendering of the 
services and activities comprising th e purpose of the concession arrangement. 

Movement in the provision for curren! and non-curren! replacements and major repairs during 
2022 is as fo llows: 

2022 
Non Curr 11 

Balance al 1 January 18,804 3,264 

Provisions during the period 4 ,980 

F1nanc1al adjustment (note 19) 1,363 

D1stributions during the year (3,146) 

Transfers (4 ,056) 4 ,056 

Balance at 31 December 21 ,091 4,174 

In 2022, the provision was used by the Company mainly for resurfacing, improvement of slopes 
and replacing structures and various installations. 

13. DEBENTURES ANO OTHER MARKETABLE SECURITIES 

This line-item consists entirely of the debentures issued by the Company, all of wh ich are 
guaranteed by the sole shareholder ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U. and are low taxation 
non-convertible debentures (see note 1 (c)), as shown in the list provided in the Annex 1, which 
forms an integral part of this note. 

Their movement in 2022 and 2021 is as fo llows: 

Thousands of euros 

Balan ce at 1 January 

lssues made during the year 

Current transfers of debt 

Valuation adjustment at amortised cost 

Balance at 31 December 

2022 

559,915 

164,763 

(19 1,465) 

(1,511) 

531,702 
(note 7) 

2021 

686,820 

6U:201PILAR BC:NiTEZ MARTf NE~ 
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The maturity of the non-curren! non-convertible debentures at their nominal value at 31 Dece ber¡ 
2022 and 2021 is as fo llows 
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Thousands of euros 2022 2021 

At two years 100,000 193,000 

At three years 63,451 100,000 

At tour years 66,801 63,451 

Al five or more years 310,340 212,378 

Total maturities 540,592 568,829 

The low-tax debentures that the Company issued in 2012, totalling 180,304 thousand euros, 
·matured on 16 May 2022. In this regard , on AUDASA signed a loan agreement wi th institutiona l 
investors for 180,300 thousand euros, drawn down on 1 O May 2022, maturing in May 2032, whose 
purpose was to address the refinancing of said issuance (see note 7). 

On 16 May 2022 an issue of low-tax debentures was paid up for the sum of 164, 763 thousand 
euros, maturing in May 2029 and intended for the partial early repayment of 164,800 thousand 
euros of the syndicated loan that AUDASA took out on 16 December 2019 for the sum of 400,000 
thousand euros, leaving an outstanding balance, after carrying out said partial repayment on 17 
May 2022 along with those already made in 2020 and 2021, of 84,900 thousand euros (see note 
14 ). 

The low-tax debentures that the Company issued in 2011 , totalling 66, 11 1 thousand euros , 
matured in May 2021. In this regard , on 11 May 2021, AUDASA signed a syndicated loan 
agreement for said amount, drawdown on 31 May 2021, maturing in May 2026, the purpose of 
which was to address the refinancing of said issuance (see note 14). 

In December 2021 an issue of low-tax debentures was paid up amounting to 50,251 thousand 
euros, maturing in December 2031 and intended for the early, partial repayment of the syndicated 
loan that AUDASA took out on 16 December 2019 for the sum of 400,000 thousand euros (see 
note 14). 

The Company issued current low-tax debentures maturing in June 2023 whose value at 
depreciated costas at 31 December 2022 amounted to 192,275 thousand euros (a current low
tax debentures issue maturing in May 2022 whose value at depreciated costas at 31 December 
2021 amounted to 179,881 thousand euros). 

Accrued interest payable at 31 December 2022 was 1,326 thousand euros (1 ,464 thousand euros 
at 31 December 2021 ). These amounts are recognised in the attached balance sheets under 
current payables - debentures and other marketable securities. 

In 2022, financia! expenses were allocated to the income statement in application of the effective 
interest rate method for an amount of 31 ,641 thousand euros (35,542 thousand euros in 2021) 
(see note 19). 

14. DEBT WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

On 16 December 2019, AUDASA signed a syndicated loan agreement worth 400,000 thousand 
euros, which was paid on 1 April 2020, with maturity and single repayment in November 2024, 
and an interest rate pegged to the six-month Euribor plus a spread. In November 2020 and 
December 2021, various partial , voluntary and ea rly repayments were made of said loan for the 
sum of 100,000 thousand euros and 50,300 thousand euros, respectively (see note 13). 

As mentioned in note 13, on 17 May 2022, AUDASA made the early, partial and voluntary 
repayment of 164,800 thousand euros of the syndicated loan, leaving an outstanding ba lance of 
84,900 thousand euros. The valuation of this loan at amortised cost W:L.Oe 022 was 
84,455 thousand euros (247,680 thousand euros on 31December2 21). PILAR BENITEZ M TINEZ 
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On 11 May 2021 , AUDASA s1gned a syndicated loan agreement worth 66, 111 thousand euros, 
which was drawn on 31 May 2021 , with maturity and single repayment in May 2026, and an 
interest rate pegged to the six-month Euribor plus a spread to refinance an issue of low-tax 
debentures for the same amount and with maturity on 31 May 2021 . The loan is backed by its· 
single shareholder ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A.U, without any interest rate hedges being 
taken out. The valuation of this loan al amortised cost at 31 December 2022 was 65,521 thousand 
euros (65,353 thousand euros on 31 December 2021 ). 

The loan agreements prov1de for certain obligations, including compliance with a Debt Service 
Coverage Ratio of no less than 1.05x, and limitations on the contracting of additional debt over· 
the total curren! debt. 

The Directors believe that the above clauses are fu lfilled , and consequently , the lenders have no 
grounds to termínate the contracts. 

Accrued interest of this loans awaiting maturity at 31 December 2022 amounted to 1, 114 
thousand euros (928 thousand euros at 31 December 2021 ). These amounts are recognised in 
the attached abridged balance sheet under "Curren! debts - Debts with financia! institutions" (see 
note 7). 

In 2022, financia! expenses were allocated to the income statement in application of the effective 
interest rate method for an amount of 4,901 thousand euros (5,293 thousand euros in 2021) (see 
note 19). 

Debts to credit entities have been broken down in Annex 11. 

15. PUBLIC ADMINISTRA TION 

Details of the credit balances with Public Administration at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as 
follows: 

16. TAX POSITION 

Thousands of euros 

Payable to Pubtic Treasury: 

For tax withhold ings 

Payable 10 the Social Security 
Payable to Public Administration, 
creditors 

2022 

328 

298 

626 

2021 

390 

211 

601 

As stated in Note 4(g) , since 1 January 2009, the Company has filed its taxes as part of th e 
consolidated tax group 36/09 formed by ITÍNERE and the companies residen! in Spanish territor , 
which comprise its consolidated tax group. 

PILAR BENiTEZ MAR~ lr~~~ ,.. 
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Act 27/2014 of 27 November, published in the Spanish Official Gazette (BOE) on 28 November 
2014, included, inter alia, the modification of the general income tax rate, which stands at 25% 
far years beginning on 1 January 2016. 

,At 31 December 2022, the Company's accrued income tax expense amounted to 21 ,945 
'thousand euros (16,909 thousand euros at 31 December 2021). 

A reconciliation of net income tax and the tax payable at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as 
follows: 

J ¡, C.l 

Net tax payable for the year 

Withholdings and payments on account 

lncome tax payable 

2022 

21 ,306 

(4,389) 

16,917 

"º 
16,231 

(12,725) 

3,506 

The reconciliation between the net amount of the year's income and expenses and the corporate 
income tax base, which the Company expects to contribute to the 2022 financia! year's 
consolidated tax return and that contributed to the 2021 financia! year's tax return, is as fo llows: 

2022 

lncomo and 
In como oxponses 

statemcnt rccognised 
directly in equity 

Balance of income and expenses in the year 66.099 (2.008) 

lncome tax 21 ,945 (669) 

Pormanent diffcrences: (264) 

Oiher (264) 

Timing diffcrences: (2,558) 2,677 

Aris1ng 1n prior years (2 592) 2,677 
Reversa! of lhe hm1t to the deduct1b1hly of 

redemp11ons (2, 160) 

lmpu1a11on of subsidies (no1e 11) 2.677 

Pension plans (432) 

Ansing m the year 34 

Pens1on plans 34 

Taxable incomo 85,222 

Tolal amoun\ (\ax resull) 21306 

Oeduct1ons and other 

Net tax payablc 21,306 

2021 

lncome and 

lncomo expenses 
Total recognised Total 

statement directly in 
equity 

64,091 50,726 (2,008) 48,718 

21 ,276 16,909 (669) 16,240 

(264) 

(264) 

119 (2,280) 2,677 397 

85 (2 325) 2,677 352 

(2, 160) (2,160) (2.160) 

2,677 2,677 2,677 

(432) (165) (165) 

34 45 45 

34 45 45 

85,222 65,355 65,355 

21 ,306 16.339 16,339 

(108) (108) 

21,306 16,231 16,231 

\ 
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A reconciliation of the income tax expense with the result of applying the pertinent tax rate to total 
recognised income and expense, differentiating between current and deferred tax, far 2022 and 
2021 , is as follows: 

2022 2021 

ln1;0111e nd lncome and 

cor e> 
expcmsc~ 

lncornc 
i;xpcnscs 

t te111°nt 
recoy'l1sed o tal statement recognrsed Total 

T~<•tt'-' n,,..,IE" nf Uf"eo, d1rectly 111 directly 111 

' t t:lofllllt; 

ProfiUloss before laxes from conl1nued 
operations 88.044 (2,677) 85,367 67,635 (2,677) 64,958 

Applicable tax rate 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 

Theoretical tax burden 22,011 (669) 21,342 16,909 (669) 16,240 . 

Effect of: 

Non-deductible expenses (66) (66) 

Effective tax expense 21 ,945 (669) 21,276 16,909 (669) 16,240 . 

Detail: 
Curren! 21 ,306 21 ,306 16,339 - 16,339 

Deferred 639 639 570 570 

tncome tax 21 ,945 21 ,945 16,909 16,909 

Details of tax recognised directly in equity at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 

20".l 2021 

T \Ot <l'ldS of et.HO"'> 
Jo ... t,;J "'ª 1 ... rt:cl Oc 10.as.e Total 

Deferred tax: 
Arising in prior years: (669) (669) (669) (669) 

lmpulation of subsidies (note 11) (669) (669) (669) (669) 

Total deferred tax (669) (669) (669) (669) 

Total tax recognised directly in equity (669) (669) (669) (669) 

Details and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as 
follows: 

ASSETS 

Pcnsion Deductible Pending LIABILITIES 
Thousands of euros commitments timing deductions Total 

dif ferenccs 

Balance at 31/12/2020 593 2,160 432 3,185 18,495 

Additions 11 11 

O is posa Is (41) (540) (108) (689) (669) 

Balance at 31/12/2021 563 1,620 324 2,507 17,826 

Additions 10 10 

O is posa Is (108) (540) (648) 

Balance at 31/12/2022 465 1,080 324 1,869 

PILAR BENITEZ RT(NEZ 
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As a result of outsourcing the pension commitments at 1 December 2000, the Company's 
!directors considered that the necessary circumstances had been met to consider recovery of the 
expenses treated as non-deductible in the annual allocations to the interna! fund and, therefore, 
the insurance premium expenses accrued from that time (see note 4U)). which has led to the 

. recognition of the corresponding deferred tax asset. 

Act 16/2012 of 27 December sets a limit of 70% on the deductibility of amortisation and 
,depreciation of intangible fixed assets, property , plan! and equipment and investment property for 
'tax periods beginning in 2013 and 2014. Furthermore, non-tax deductible accounting amortisation 
and depreciation shall be deducted on a straight-line basis overa period of 1 O years or the useful 
life of the asset, as of the first tax period beginning in 2015. Consequently, at 31 Oecember 2022 

·the Company had recognised a deferred tax asset of 1,080 thousand euros in this respect (1 ,620 
thousand euros at 31 December 2021). 

IAt 31 December 2022 and 2021, the re fundable advances extended to the Company are 
recognised at amortised cost, giving rise to the recognition of deferred tax liability for the 
difference in respect of the amount reimbursed. 

In relation to the deferred tax asset derived from the limit to the deductibility of amortisation and 
depreciation, set out by Act 16/2012 of 27 December, transitional provision 37 of Act 27/2014 of 

1
27 November states that companies can deduct from income tax payable 5% of the amounts 
included in taxable income for the tax period, resulting from the tax reversa! of the expense 
adjusted far non-deductible amortisation and depreciation charges in 2013 and 2014 (2% 
deduction in 2015). Therefore, as a result of the above, at 31 December 2022 and 2021 the 
Company had recognised deductions pending application amounting to 324 thousand euros for 
reversa! of the temporary measures. 

Pursuant to the provisions of article 30 bis of Act 27/2014, of 27 November, regarding Corporate 
lncome Tax introduced by Act 22/2021, of 28 December, taking effect as from 1 January 2022, a 
"Minimum Taxation" was determined for taxpayers whose net turnover amount is at least 20 
million euros or which are taxed under the tax consolidation regime. Generally speaking, the tax 
liability may not be less than 15% of taxable income. Nevertheless, by way of exception, the 
application is permitted, inter alia, of double taxation deductions up to a limit of 50% of the net tax 
liability and this liability after the application of the double taxation deductions is regarded as the 
minimum net tax liability. As a result of the above, in the financia! year of 2022 the Company was 
unable to apply the deduction owing to the reversa! of temporary measures foreseen in transitory 
provision thirty-seven of Act 27/2014, pertaining to the depreciation no deducted for Corporate 
lncome Tax in the financia! years of 2013 and 2014. 

Under current legislation, taxes cannot be deemed to have been final ly settled until the tax returns 
filed have been inspected by the tax authorities or until the four-year statute-of-limitations period 
has expired. However, due to the extraordinary COVID-19 measures approved by the 
Government, the period from 18 March 2020 to 3 June 2020, inclusive, does not count towards 
the expiry period. Furthermore, this suspension of the terms of expiry is only applicable to those 
which, without taking it into account, end befare 1 July 2021. 

In accordance with the foregoing and in general, without considering the suspension of the 
limitation period stemming from COVI D-19, the Company has all the main taxes that are 
applicable thereto from 1 January 2019 open for inspection by the tax authorities (fiscal year 
ended 31 December 2018 for Corporate lncome Tax). Nevertheless, the Administration's right to 
check or investigate the tax losses that are offset or available for carryforward, the double taxation 
deductions and the deductions to incentivise certain activities applied or pending application as 
a statute of limitations of 1 O years starting from the day after that on which the period establish d 
for filing the return or self-settlement corresponding to the tax period in which the right to offsetti g 
or application was generated. Once that period has elapsed, the Company must accredit the t x 
losses or deductions by submitting the tax return or self-settlement and the accounting record: , 
with accreditation of their deposit during that period in the Mercantile Reg istry. As a result of tfu 
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different possible interpretations of the tax leg islation in force and other factors, additional 
liabi lities may arise due to an inspection. The directors believe that those liabilities , if they occur, 
will not have a material impact on the annual accounts. 

17. BALANCES ANO TRANSACTIONS WITH GROUP COMPANIES 

The debit and credit balances with group companies , associates and other related parties at 31 
December 2022 and 202 1 are as follows: 

2022 2021 

Paren! 
Other 

Paren! 
Other 

Thousands of euros group Total group Total company companies company companies 

Trade balances 248 248 21 176 197 

Autoestradas de Galicia. A.G .. C.X G s A.U 87 87 81 81 

Autopista Astur Leonesa. C E.S.A . S A U 139 139 79 79 

Autopistas de Navarra, C.E.S.A. 18 18 8 8 

ttinere Infraestructuras. S.A. 2 2 · 

Europistas. S.A. 6 6 

Gestion lnfraest. Viarias de Bizka1a S.A. 3 3 

ENA Infraestructuras. S.A.U. 21 21 

Curren! debit balances (notes 7 and 8) 248 248 21 176 197 

Curren! investm ents in Group comp~nics 1,609 1,609 675 675 

ENA Infraestructuras, S.A.U. 1,609 1,609 675 675 

Curren! financia! investments balances (note 7) 1,609 1,609 675 675 

Non-curren! investments in Group companies 97,726 97,726 59,937 59,937 

ENA Infraestructuras, S.A.U. 97 ,726 97,726 59,937 59.937 

Non-curren! financia! investment balances (note 7) 97 ,726 97,726 59,937 59,937 

Curren! payables to group compan ies and associates 9 19,657 19,666 31,144 31, 144 

Autopista Astur Leonesa, C.E.S.A , s A u 1 1 

llinere Infraestructuras, S.A. lncome Tax 16,917 16,917 3,482 3,482 

llinere Infraestructuras, S.A. VAT consolidation 1,685 1,685 26,099 26,099 

llinere Infraestructuras, S.A. 1,054 1,054 1,562 1,562 

ENA Infraestructuras, S.A.U. 9 9 

Curren! credit balances (note 7) 9 19,657 19,666 31 ,144 31, 144 

The Company has formed part of the special VAT regime group 0157/10 headed by ITÍNERE 
Infraestructuras, S.A. with effect from 1 January 201 O. At 31 December 2022, the Company had 
VAT payable of 1,685 thousand euros (26,099 thousand euros at 31 December 2021). 

On 16 February 2016, the Company signed a loan with its Sole Shareholder ENA pursuant to 
which provisions were made that at 31 December 202 1 amounted to 59,937 thousand euros. In, 
the financia! year of 2022 the Company formalised new annexes to that loan contrae! by virtue of 
which new drawdowns were made far a total amount of 63,000 thousand euros. Furthermore, on 
28 November 2022 the Board of Directors decided upan the distribution of an interim dividend of 
the profits distributable as at 31 October 2022 far the sum of 26,000 thousand euros which was 
paid in December 2022 through the partial compensation of said loan (Note 3 (d)). 

This loan accrues a variable interest rate pegged to 1-year Euribor plus a spread; if the interesti 
is not paid at the end of the settlement period, it wi ll be capita lised; and its maturity is Februa 
2024, which can be extended far annual periods. In 2022 this loan has accrued an intere 
amounting to 1, 723 thousand euros, and capitalised 789 thousand euros (775 thousand euro 
and 706 thousand euros respectively, in 2021) (see note 19). At 31 December 2022, 1,6d 
thousand euros (675 thousand euros at 31 December 2021) were pending collection (see no 
7). 
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Details of transactions with group companies, associates and other related parties in 2022 and 
.2021 are as follows: 
i 

20L2 2021 

Far '1t Other yrou,> Parc'lt Other 
Total qroup rotal 

'" ' ' 
,. 

} e npan1 ,f ~ compan' 

Management or collaboration contracts 2,152 5,547 7,699 1,684 5,412 7,096 

ENA Infraestructuras. S.A.U. 2.152 2,152 1,684 1,684 

ltinere Infraestructuras. S.A.U. 5,547 5,547 5,412 5,412 

Other expenses 6 425 431 6 458 464 

Autopista Astur Leonesa. S.A.U. 6 6 5 5 

ENA Infraestructuras, S.A.U. 6 6 6 6 

Enaitinere. S.A.U. 24 24 24 24 

ltinere Infraestructuras, S.A.U. 395 395 429 429 

Total expenses 2,158 5,972 8,130 1,690 5,870 7,560 

Management or collaboration contracts 824 824 774 774 

Autoestradas de Gahcia. A.G .. C.X.G., S.A.U. 824 824 774 774 

Provision of services 260 260 52 226 278 

Autopistas de Navarra. S.A. 66 66 42 42 

Autopista Astur Leonesa. S.A.U. 175 175 74 74 

Autoestradas de Galicia, A.G .. C.X.G .. S.A.U. 13 13 110 110 

Gestion lnfraest. Viarias de Bizkaia S.A . 6 6 

ENA Infraestructuras, S.A.U . 52 52 

Financia! incomc 1,723 1,723 775 775 

ENA Infraestructuras. S.A.U. (note 19) 1,723 1,723 775 775 

Total income 1,723 1,084 2,807 827 1,000 1,827 

The transactions with related parties refer to the Company's normal business and are carried out 
on an arm's length basis. 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company receives royalty charges for general, 
administrative and technical control expenses from its sole shareholder and from the parent 
company of the group it belongs to, in accordance with the contracts signed between the 
companies. 

18. NET TURNOVER 

Net toll income in 2022 and 2021 is as follows: 

nas of euros 

Cash 

Externa! cards 

Electronic collection device 

Electronic toll system-R .D.104/2013 (') 

Rebates R.D.681 /2021 (note 8) 

Shadow toll road, net of rebates (note 8) 

75% Rebate R.D.104/20213 (*) 

25% discount 

Turnover 

~02.<. 70 

15,874 16,537 

33,198 32,989 

83,333 81 ,560 

2,982 

34,743 13,994 

11 ,511 10,796 

(2,982) 

(6,840) (5,620) 

171 819 150,256 
1 

(') Rebates in force until 29 July 2021 (see note 1 (e)) PILAR BENITEZ MA ~TfNEZ 
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All the turnover recorded by the Company in 2022 and 2021 was ~btained in SpaiRúmero 
325 

Autopistas del Atlántico, Concesionaria Española, 2022 Annual Accounts. Page 47 of 77 



AUTOPISTAS DEL ATLÁNTICO, Concesionaria Española, S.A. 
(Sociedad Unipersonal) 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

19. FINANCIAL INCOME ANO EXPENSES 

The breakdown of financia! income is as follows: 

Tho usands or euros 

lnterest on credits with group companies (note 17) 

Administration lnterest 

lnterest on debt securit ies 

Other interests and similar income 

Financia ! incorne 

2022 

1,723 

618 

44 

475 

2,860 

2021 

775 

828 

143 

1,746 

In 2021 , item "Administrat ion tnterest" includes 417 thousand euros in internet accrued in 2021 
for shadow toll income as frorn 29 July 2017 to 31 December 2019 in financia! year 2021 following 
the annulment of Royal Decree 803/2017 and consequently the application of Royal Decree 
633/2016 (see note 8) . 

Details of financia! expenses are as follows: 

Thous~··' 202"' 10"1 

lnterests with credit institutions (note 14) 4,901 5,293 

lnterest on othcr debts (note 7) 2,930 

lnterests on dcbentures (note 13) 31,641 35,542 

lnterests on linbililies revision (note 7) 1,685 1,615 

Other interests 209 234 

Financia! prov1s1on adjustment (note 12) 1,363 1,347 

Deferred financ1al expenses (note 5) (25,839) (27,869) 

Financia! expenses 16,890 16, 162 

20. STAFF 

The average headcount in 2022 and 2021 , broken down by category, has been as follows: 

2022 2021 

Managers 3 3 

Technical staff 20 21 

Admin istrative staff 19 19 

Other staff 191 186 

Total 233 229 

- - ··N\TEZ MAR \NEZ 
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At 31 December 2022 and 2021 , the breakdown of the Company's headcount by category and 
gender is as fol lows: 

Men Women Total 
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Managers 3 3 3 3 
Technical staff 11 11 9 10 20 21 
Administrative 
staff 3 6 17 16 20 22 
Other staff 120 130 89 80 209 210 

Total 137 150 115 106 252 256 

In 2016, the average number of employees with a disability of 33% or higher is as follows: 

2022 2021 
Administrative 
staff 1 1 
Other staff 5 5 

Total 6 6 

Of the total personnel expenses for 2022, 2,588 thousand euros comprise the social security 
costs paid by the Company (2,428 thousand euros at 31 December 202 1) and 111 thousand 
euros to the income derived from the net amount of the annual insurance premium for the 
supplementary pension benefits (148 thousand euros at 31 December 2021) (see note 4 (j)). 

In 2022 and 2021 , all the members of the Board of Directors were men. 

21. INFORMATION ABOUT COMPANY DIRECTORS ANO SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

The remunerations paid to the Senior Management during the financia! years of 2022 and 202 1 
amounted to 484 thousand euros and 535 thousand euros, respectively. In 2022 and 2021, 
members of the Board of Directors received remuneration of 54 thousand euros per year in their 
capacity as directors. The Company had no Senior Management staff who were on the Board of 
Directors. 

In 2022 and 2021 , the Company has not extended any loans or credit, undertaken any pension 
plan or insurance commitments, nor does it have any balances receivable from or payable to 
members of the Board of Directors or Senior Management at 31 December 2022 and 2021. 
Likewise, the Company has not paid any civi l liability insurance premiums for directors and 
managers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, ITÍNERE, the parent company of the Group to which 
the Company belongs, has civil corporate liability policies for the directors and managers which 
cover the directors and managers of the Group companies who represent them. 

In 2022 and 2021 , the Company's directors did not carry out any transactions with the Company 
or any other of the Group Companies outside their ordinary business or in conditions other than 
on an arm's length basis. Similarly, the Company's directors and the persons related or linked to 
them have not been involved in any situation of conflict of interest that, pursuant to the provisions 
of article 229 of the consolidated text of Corporate Enterprises Act, needs to be notified. 

' 
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22. GUARANTEES UNDERTAKEN WITH THIRD PARTIES ANO OTHER CONTINGENT 
LIABILITIES 

(a) Guarantees to third part ies 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company has been granted bank guarantees in favour of 
the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda as construction and operating guarantees 
for the following amounts: 

Constr·¡ctton guarantees 

Perlol'nance guarantees 

Gua ran Ices 

13 ,730 

28.772 

42,502 

13.730 

28.772 

42,502 

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the construction and operating guarantees amounting to 28,481 
thousand euros are backed by ENA INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A. U. 

The Company's Directors are o f the opinion that no liabilities will arise as a result of those 
guarantees. 

(b) Other Contingent Liabil 1t1es 

The Company is involved in legal and ou t-of-court disputes within the ordinary course of their 
activit ies (disputes with suppl iers. customers, public administrations, private persons, employees, 
etc.). The appropriate provis1ons are made in those cases in which it is considered that there is a 
possibility of a ru ling going against the Company. The directors are of the opinion that, in the 
event of a ruling against the Group, none of these proceedings will have a significan! effect on 
the financia! information far !he 2022. 

The following are the most relevan! matters that, in this respect, the Company has pending as at 
31 December 2022: 

(i) Ord inary Proceeding number 344/18 

On 8 May 2019, AUDASA was notified of the ordinary lawsuit filed by the Prosecutor's Office 
against the company lollowed at the Court of First lnstance of Pontevedra with Ordinary 
Proceeding number 344/18, exercising the collective action of cessation, defence of the 
undefined interests of consumers and users, nullity of the abusive practice and accessory 
refund of the amounts received in such concept, and claim far damages. Court no.1 of 
Pontevedra passed a iudgement on 21 February 2020 whereby it partially upheld the claim 
brought. On 19 April 2021, the Court of Appeal of Pontevedra fully revoked the previous. 
judgement, acquitting the concessionary company of any claim. There was an appeal for 
reversa! against the judgement befare the Supreme Court by the Public Prosecutor. 

(i i) Ordinary Proceeding number 907/2021 

On 29 December 2021 . notification was received of a claim far payment against AUDASA 
filed by Francisco Gomez y Cía, y, Puentes y Calzadas wh ich was heard by the Court of Firstl 
lnstance No. 2 of A Coruña, amounting to 10,9 million euros in relation to execution of the 
works contract to carry out the renovation works to increase the capacity of the AP-9 between 
Santiago Norte-Santiago Sur. The concessionary Company object to all the cla ims of the · 
claimants, bringing a counterclaim against them for the sum of 7.4 million euros. 
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(iii) European Commission summons the Spanish Government 

On 23 September 2021 , AUDASA learned that the European Commission had published at 
its website the referral of formal notice to the Kingdom of Spain to guarantee the proper 
application of European Union regulations with regard to public procurement and concession 
agreements. Although AUDASA has not received any notification in this regard , nor is it party 
to the procedure that could arise, the Directors believe that any measures which could 
consider in the future the amendment or termination of the concession contract in force for 
reasons not attributable to the company and on the grounds of the public interest (as a 
consequence or not of the adoption or said measures), would entail, in any case, and in 
accordance with the legislation in force, the concessionary company's right to be duly 
compensated. 

(c) Contingent assets 

The following are the most relevant matters that, in this respect, the Company has pending as at 
31 December 2022: 

(i) Contentious-administrative appeal 98/2022 

On 08 February 2022, in light of the applicable regulatory framework, the Company lodged a 
contentious-administrative appeal requesting the restoration of the financia! equilibrium of the 
concession agreement. The legal basis of this request is the exercise of a contractual right to 
maintain the aforementioned economic and financia! balance, based on the appearance of 
unforeseeable and extraordinary circumstances, as well as being based on the adoption --by 
the different governmental administrations-- of measures that made it impossible to execute 
the concession contracts under the foreseen terms, as the concession companies kept up 
with their full business activity because they are critica! transport infrastructures. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing , the Company --in accordance with the provisions of its 
concession contract and the applicable legal framework-- continues with risk (demand risk of 
the concessionary company) and the risk of maintaining an economic and financia! balance. 
Said procedure is currently being processed. 

(d) Other 

(i) Ordinary Proceeding number 17712022 

On 16 November 2022, AUDASA filed a claim against the Galician Regional Government in 
order for it to be declared that the Galician Regional Government is required to pay the 
company 50% of the shadow toll pertaining to the financia! years of 2020 and 2021 , plus the 
attendant interest in accordance with the Royal Decree in force 633/2006 of 19 May. At 
present, the reply to the claim is being heard. 

23. ENVIRONMENT 

Usual work is carried out for protecting and improving the environment and for integrating the toll 
road into the surrounding landscape. The most frequent work involves mowing grass on verges , 
central reservations and landscaped a reas, maintaining rest and services areas, planting, pruning 
hedges and laying topsoil over barren areas. 

Ordinary expenses for the aforementioned work in 2022 amounted to 1,669 thousand euros 
(1,484 thousand euros in 2021). 

No provision is considered necessary to cover possible expenses or risks rel< ing to 
environmental actions. 
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24. INFORMATION ABOUT THE NATURE ANO RISKS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

As indicated in note 1, the Company's corporate purpose consists of exercising the rights and 
fulfilling the obligations derived from the concession arrangement signed with the State grantor, 
which establishes the righl lo redress the financia! balance should circumstances beyond the 
control of the concession operator arise, which significantly limits the risks associated with the 
activity . 

Policies far managing the financia! instrument-related risks applicable to the Company are· 
determined largely by legislation and regulations specific to the infrastructure concessions sector, 
the concession and financ1ng contract, and the nature of the project itself. 

The Company 's financia! pol icy and management is determined and executed by the Financia! 
Department of ITÍNERE, lhe Company's majority shareholder. The latter has established 
markedly conservative pohc1es regarding the use of financia! instruments such as not entering 
into speculative transactions with derivatives or the investment of cash surpluses solely in low
risk financia! products. 

The following is a brief analysis of the different risk factors related to financia! instruments: 

• Credit risk: Is virtually non-existent because Company income is paid in cash or through 
electronic means or credi l cards, whose default risk is borne by the issuers, or take the form 
of payments from the granting Administration made in accordance with the terms of the 
concession. 

• Liquidity Risk: The Company's liquidity risk is limited dueto the nature of collections and 
payments, its EBITD/\ and financia! structure, its system of tariffs and the predictable, 
systematic investment programme far asset replacement. The Company aims to maintain 
the liquidity it needs to settle its payment obligations at any given time. 

As mentioned in note 2, at 31 December 2022, the Company had negative working capital 
of 156,964 thousand euros. However, the Company's Di rectors prepared these financia! 
statements on a going concern basis. 

• lnterest rate risk: íhe structure, type of financing , coverage, guarantees and, in short, 
the most appropriate l111ancial instruments are selected according to the nature and risks 
inherent to the projecl 1n arder to eliminate or mitigate them as much as possible taking the 
cosUrisk factor into consideration. 

As mentioned in note 14, at 31 December 2022, the Company has entered into two 
syndicated loan agreements ata variable interest rate . In this regard, a possible variation in. 
interest rates of ± 100 basis points with regard to the interest rate at year-end, would have a' 
quantitative effect that would entail an impact on the net earnings far the financia! year of 
±1 , 148 thousand euros, respectively . 

• Refinancing risk 1s low as the business is an operational toll road with recurrent income 
and cash flows which tend to rise . The low-tax debentures that the Company issued in 2013, 
totalling 193,000 thousand euros, to be matured in May 2023. The Company has already thel 
required official authorisation from the General Directorate of the Treasury and Financia! 
Policy far the 2023 financing plan, which considers the capture of 193,000 thousand euros. 
Furthermore, as at the date of drawing up these annual accounts, the Company took ou a 
bank loan for an identical amount atan interest rate referenced to EURIBOR 6 months e hd 
maturing in 2027. 
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In relation to this refinancing , it is worth highlighting the Group's extensive experience in this 
type of operations to raise funds in capital and debt markets, which, even in adverse 
situations, has allowed financing operations to be successfully concluded, which is a clear 
indicator of the confidence of financia! institutions in the project developed by AU DASA. 

• Exchange rate risk: The Company's debt is denominated in the same currency as the 
cash flows of its business. Likewise, only a few transactions are made in non-euro 
currencies. Consequently, there is currently no significant currency risk. 

• Price risk: The Company is not exposed to price risk as it operates in a regulated market 
and tariffs are inflation-linked (CPI}. 

"Other risks to which the Company is exposed are as follows: 

• Climate change risk: Climate change and its consequences is one of the greatest 
challenges facing humankind in environmental, social and economic terms, requiring 
active management by ali the players involved. 

Greenhouse gas emissions mainly generated by the use of fossil fuels have accelerated 
global warming in recen! decades and their effects are already visible. 

The ITÍNERE Group is fully aware of the majar challenge that climate change represents 
and it is committed to improving its performance with regard to environmental 
sustainability, taking measures which seek to minimise the environmental impact in all its 
fields of action, promoting energy saving and resources and contributing to the upkeep 
and improvement of our environment. 

With this in mind, the Group is considering environmental aspects in transversal fashion, 
seeking more sustainable options and the continuous improvement of its processes. 

• Ukraine invasion risk: In February 2022, a military conflict between Russia and Ukraine 
on the latter's territory arase, leading to multiple effects on global economy. These effects, 
among others, include the crisis related to the cost of food and fuel, which have 
contributed to an increase of inflation, as well as to a harshening of worldwide financia! 
conditions due to the increase of interest rates applied by the main central banks with the 
aim to curb inflation. 

The length of the conflict and its consequences far global economy are yet uncertain. 
Nevertheless, the Company's Directors do not expect said conflict to directly affect the 
operations thereof and, as a consequence, have not foreseen any contingency to mitigate 
this situation. 

25. OTHER INFORMATION 

In financia! years 2022 and 202 1, the fees charged by PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. 
for their auditing services totalled 28,300 euros, respectively . 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. has provided the Company with accounting verification 
services far financia! year 2022, with fees amounting to 14,000 euros (12,000 euros for financia! 
year 2021). 

During the financia! years of 2022 and 2021 , PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. did no 
provide any fiscal services, nor any other services whose provision by the accounts' auditors is 
required under the applicable regulations. 
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At the same time, no subsidiary companies of the PwC network invoiced the Company far 
amounts during the 2022 éJnd 2021 financia! years. 

26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

(a) On 15 March 2023 the Company formalised a syndicated loan agreement for the maximum 
sum of 193,000 th ousand euros, referenced to the Euribor at 6 months plus a spread, 
maturing in June 2027, guaranteed by its Sole Shareholder and whose purpose was to see 
to the repayment u pon its maturity of an issue of low-tax income debentures, for an identical 
amount, which will occur on 26 June 2023. 

(b) On 27 March 2023, the Board of Directors resolved to distribute the interim dividend out of 
distributable profit a l 31 December 2022 amounting to 13,098,958.06 euros, equivalent to 
0.4018 euros per share, which will be pa id on 04 April 2023. 

Pursuant to the consolidated text of the Corporate Enterprises Act, the aforementioned 
distribution was prepared based on profits at 31 December 2022 and the fo llowing forecast 
cash statement for the one-year period from the date of adoption of the distribution 
agreement: 

Tax net result until 31 December 2022 

Allocation to the lega1 reserve 

Distributable profi t al 31 Decem ber 2022 

lnterim dividend d is tributed 

lnterim dividend to be distributed 

Thousands of euros 

66,099 

66,099 

(53,000) 

13,099 

Estimated liquid assets far a period of one year after 27 March 2023 

Liquid assets balance at 27 March 2023 35,089 

56,495 

91 ,584 

Collections and payn1ents foreseen until 27 March 2024 

Projected liquid assets balance at 27 March 2024 
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Nominal 
amount Year of 

31/1212022 issue 

Date 

Notes to the Annual Accounts 

Details of the debentures at 
31 December 2022 and 2021 

(in thousands of euros) 

31 Dcccmber 2022 

lntercst Non-
Maturily rato Currcnt current Total Current 

Annex 1 

31 Deccmbcr 2021 

Non· 
current Total 

2012 May • 2022 5 75 179.881 179,881 

193,000 2013 June. 2023 5 20 192,275 192,275 190,668 190,666 

63,451 2015 December • 2025 3 75 62,693 62,693 62,716 62,716 

66,601 2016 May • 2026 315 66, 155 66,155 65,977 65,977 

95326 2016 March • 2026 3 15 93.596 93.596 93288 93.266 

100,000 2020 November • 2024 160 98,676 98.676 96,301 98.301 

50.251 2021 December • 2031 210 49,079 49,079 46,963 46,963 

164.763 2022 May • 2029 3 50 161,103 161,103 

733,591 Total issuod dcbenturos 192,275 531,702 723,977 179,881 559,915 739,796 

Al 31 December 2022, the fa ir values of the outstanding debentures do not differ significantly from their carrying amounts. 

These debentures are listed on the AIAF, i.e. the Spanish corporate debt reference market or the priva te fixed-income 
that operates the Spanish financia! markets. Their fair values are shown on the following website: 

http://www.aiaf.es/esp/aspx/aiaf/Precios.aspx 

AIAF is a regulated market, as opposed to the over-the-counter markets, and is subject to control and supervision by the 
authorities regarding their functioning and how they list securities and disseminate information. 

This appendix forms an integral part of note 13 of the annual accounts, 
1 

which must be read together. ----------1+-------. 
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Brca kdown of Debts with Financia! lnstitutions 
31 December 2022 and 2021 

(in thousands of euros) 

31 Oecember 2022 

Annex 11 

31 December 2021 

Original 
Sl art date Maturity lnterost rate Current Non - To tal Current Non- Total current current amounl 

BANCO SANTANDER 400 ()()( 2020 2024 Eunbor 6m • 1 15% 84.445 84.445 247.680 247.680 

CAIXABANK 66.11 1 2021 2026 Euribor 6m + 1 15% 65,521 65.521 65,353 6~.353 

BORROWlNG COSTS 1,114 1.114 928 928 

Total debt w ith credit institulions 1,114 149,966 151,080 928 313,033 313,961 
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1. COMPANY BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND POSITION. 

In the financia! year of 2022, traffic closed the year slightly up on the level attained in 
2019, the last year of normality before the COVID-19 pandemic. After three long years of 
doubts and uncertainties, it was observed that Company activity has progressively 
recovered since the total lifting of the restrict ions on mobility in May 2021. 

High inflation is stili the main concern as it remains at unusualiy high levels never 
witnessed in the last decade. The increase in raw materials' prices, particularly 
highlighting the evolution and forecasts of the electrical energy cost, boosted the upward 
pressures on prices Despite the energy crisis deriving from the breaking out of war in 
Ukraine in February 2022 and the difficulties that followed in the distribution of sorne 
products along with the escalation in inflation, the national economy has shown its 
strength, largely dueto the interna! consumption and savings made during the pandemic. 
Ali the indicators confirm that the feared recessed driven by high energy costs and which 
was foreseen by the majority of economic studies' entities far the last quarter of the year, 
fai led to materialise. 

In this context of relative economic recovery, the Company focused its efforts on 
strengthening its strategy, aligned with that of the ITÍNERE group to which it belongs, 
mainly aimed at promoting digitisation and the drive towards more sustainable 
development. Ali of which , lending continuity to its policy to maintain the quality of the 
service provided to users, particularly in terms of road safety. Hence, an investment plan 
was implemented with a view to keep increasing the safety and convenience of users. 

Traffic subject to toll payment increased 11.13% compared to 2021, the year in which 
restrictions on mobility were put into place until early May, being distributed between an 
increase of 11 .85% for light vehicles (which represen! more than 90% of the total traffic 
of the tol l road) and 3.56% for heavy vehicles. As at year-end 2022 traffic was 1.01 % 
above the 2019 figures, the last year befare the health crisis caused by COVID-19. 

Total average daily traffic (ADT) for the operational sections with tolls was 21,803 vehicles 
(19,620 vehicles in 2021). Furthermore, the total mean daily intensity of the tol l road in 
2022, which included both toll stretches and free roads, stood at 24,561 vehicles (22,369 
vehicles during 2021 ). 

Pursuant to Act 14/2000 of 29 December setting out the procedure far revising tariffs and 
tolls on toll roads owned by the State, authorisation was granted far a review of tariffs, 
effective from 1 January 2022. As a result of this review, tariffs and tolls were increased 
by +1.97%. In addition, the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda authorised 
the one-off increase of 1 % to address the construction work to increase capacity (Royal 
Decree 1733/2011 ). As a result the total review of tariffs since the beginning of the year 
was +2.99%. In light of the above, toli income far 2022 registered a year-on-year increase 
of 14.4%. 

The excellent growth in use of the electronic toll coliection system is noteworthy, which 
has steadily increased since it was implemented and especially from March 2020 
onwards as a result of the health crisis as it became the safest payment method to fight 
against the spread of COVID-19. The coming into force of Royal Decree 681/2021of27 
July was another factor which contributed to the increased use of the toli coliection system 
(see note 1 (f) of the attached report) which attains mean levels of 69.5% of users with 
regard to total passages (64.6% in 2021 ). The 50 toli coliection lanes, together with the 
71 automatic coliection lanes currently in use, account far 96.2% of total passages at the 
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Operating costs - excluding other profits/losses, the prov1s1on for depreciation and 
amortisation of fixed assets and provisions for replacements and major repa irs and traffic 
provisions - amounted to 28.6 mi Ilion euros (26.8 million in 2021 ). As a result, the EBITDA 
marg in was 84.4%, slightly higher to the 83.5% recorded the previous year. 

The operating income as at 31 December 2022 (102. 1 mi Ilion euros) was up 20 million 
euros on a year-on-year basis, which represents a 24.4% increase and which can mainly 
be put down to a 21.6 million euros increase in toll income far 2022 (+14.4%), a reduction 
in the allocation to intangible fixed assets of 1.1 million euros as a resu lt of the 
deregistrations occurring under this ítem owing to the contributions of the Ministry of 
Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda with a view to reducing the balance pend ing 
compensation (see note 5 (a}} , effects which were partially offset by an increase in 
expenses on externa! services of 1.1 million euros, of staffing costs of 0.8 million euros 
and the allocation to the provision far replacement and major repairs far 0.8 million euros 
based on the multi-annual investment plan foreseen by the Company unti l the end of the 
concession . 

The Company's accrued financia! expenses climbed to 41.4 million euros, falling slightly 
short of the 42.7 million euros accrued in financia! year 2021 . This is mainly due to a 
considerable reduction in the cost of debt as a result of the refinancing operations carried 
out during the financia! years of 2021 and 2022 (see notes 7, 13 and 14 of the attached 
report). The application of the sectoral accounting standards implies that part of the 
financia! expenses associated with both the financing of the origina l concession-based 
asset and the extension (26 mi Ilion euros in 2022 and 28 mi Ilion euros in 2021) are 
activated under the heading of "Concession Agreement, Financia! Activation" (see note 
19 of the attached annual report). The financia! income accrued by the Company in the 
financia! year of 2022 amounted to 2.9 million euros, 1.1 million euros higher than that 
accrued in 2021 mainly owing to the increase in interest accrued from the loan granted to 
the Sale Shareholder as new drawdowns were carried out in 2022 and the interest rate 
applied was greater too. Therefore, the financia! loss far 2022 totalled 14.0 million euros, 
i.e. down 2.8% on 2021 . 

The combined performance of the above indicators increased after tax profit at 31 
December 2022 (66.1 million euros) by 30.3% on 2021 (50.7 million euros) 

The ITÍNERE Group has allocated the Company's received d ividends to reduce the debt 
arising from the purchase of Empresa Nacional de Autopistas, S.A (now ENA 
Infraestructuras, S.A.U .) from the State, which was privatised in 2003 far the price of 
1,622 mi Ilion euros. No dividend has been distributed to its shareholders over the course 
of the nineteen years. 

The investment activity of 2022 related with the concession agreement has materialised: 
mainly in the process to expropriate the sites required to carry out the construction project 
involving road replacement in Chapela (stretch between O Morrazo junction-Teis 
junction}, both related with the Addendum to the agreement approved by Royal Decree 
1733/2011 of 18 November (Royal Decree 1359/2018 of 29 October), as well as the 
implementation of certain actions related with Royal Decree 681 /2021 of 29 July, such as 
the construction of lay-bys for traffic incidents on the Redondela-Vigo stretch and the1 
installation of variable message panels around Vigo .. As far as investments owing to 
replacement actions carried out in 2022 were concerned, they facused on roadbeds in 
the context of the roadbeds strategy of the company, on slope stabilisation actions, as 
well as on improvements to structures, drainage and toll installations to maintain a good 
level of service and safety for users. 

The amounts paid by the Company to the various Public A0~d~m~in~is~t~ra~t=io~n:s~f:_o~r t:a:x:e:s,~s:o~cf:;¡;;.;;·l 
security contributions, etc. totalled 59 million euros in 202~. TlNEZ 
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In financia! year 2022 the average workforce of the Company increased by 4 people. 

The average payment period to suppliers in 2022 was 18 days. 

Contingent liabilities 

The Company is involved in legal and out-of-court disputes with in the ordinary course of 
their activities (disputes with suppliers, customers, public administrations, private 
persons, employees, etc.). The appropriate provisions are made in those cases in which 
it is considered that there is a possibility of a ruling going against the Company. The 
directors are of the opinion that, in the event of a ruling against the Group, none of these 
proceedings will have a significant effect on the financia! information for the 2022. 

The following are the most relevant matters that, in this respect, the Company has 
pending as at 31 December 2022: 

(i) Ordinary Proceeding number 344/18 

On 8 May 2019, AUDASA was notified of the ordinary lawsu it fi led by the Prosecutor's 
Office against the company, followed at the Court of First lnstance of Pontevedra with 
Ordinary Proceeding number 344/18, exercising the collective action of cessation, 
defence of the undefined interests of consumers and users, nullity of the abusive practice 
and accessory refund of the amounts received in such concept, and claim for damages. 
Court no.1 of Pontevedra passed a judgement on 21 February 2020 whereby it partially 
upheld the claim brought. On 19 April 2021 , the Court of Appeal of Pontevedra fully 
revoked the previous judgement, acquitting the concessionary company of any claim. 
There was an appeal for reversa! against the judgement before the Supreme Court by 
the Public Prosecutor. 

(ii) Ordinary Proceeding number 907/2021 

On 29 December 2021, notification was received of a claim for payment aga inst AUDASA 
filed by Francisco Gomez y Cía, y, Puentes y Calzadas which was heard by the Court of 
First lnstance No. 2 of A Coruña, amounting to 10,9 million euros in relation to execution 
of the works contract to carry out the renovation works to increase the capacity of the AP-
9 between Santiago Norte-Santiago Sur. The concessionary Company object to all the 
claims of the claimants, bringing a counterclaim against them for the sum of 7.4 million 
euros. 

(iii) European Commission summons the Spanish Government 

On 23 September 2021 , AUDASA learned that the European Commission had published 
at its website the referral of formal notice to the Kingdom of Spain to guarantee the proper 
application of European Union regulations with regard to public procurement and 
concession agreements. Although AUDASA has not received any notification in this 
regard , nor is it party to the procedure that could arise, the Directors believe that any 
measures which could consider in the future the amendment or termination of the 
concession contrae! in force for reasons not attributable to the company and on the 
grounds of the public interest (as a consequence or not of the adoption or said measures), 
would entail , in any case, and in accordance with the legislation in force, the 
concessionary company's right to be duly compensated. 

Continqent assets 

The following are the most relevan! matters that, in this 
pending as at 31 December 2022: 
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(i) Contentious-administrative appeal 98/2022 

On 08 February 2022, in light of the applicable regulatory framework, the Company 
lodged a contentious-administrative appeal requesting the restoration of the financia! 
equilibrium of the concession agreement. The legal basis of this request is the exercise 
of a contractua l right to maintain the aforementioned economic and financia ! balance, 
based on the appearance of unforeseeable and extraordinary circumstances, as well as 
being based on the adoption --by the different governmental administrations-- of 
measures that made it impossible to execute the concession contracts under the foreseen 
terms, as the concession companies kept up with their full business activity because they 
are critica! transport infrastructures. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company --in 
accordance with the provisions of its concession contract and the applicable legal 
framework-- continues with risk (demand risk of the concessionary company) and the risk 
of maintaining an economic and financia! balance. Said procedure is currently being 
processed. 

(i) Ordinary Proceeding number 177/2022 

On 16 November 2022, AUDASA filed a claim against the Galician Reg ional Government 
in arder for it to be declared that the Galician Regiona l Government is required to pay the 
company 50% of the shadow toll pertaining to the financia! years of 2020 and 2021 , plus 
the attendant interest in accordance with the Royal Decree in force 633/2006 of 19 May. 
At present, the reply to the claim is being heard. 

2. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The events subsequent to year-end are those described in note 26 of the attached report. 

3. COMPANY ÜUTLOOK 

The economic forecasts for Spain in 2023 suggest that the economic slowdown will 
continue during early 2023, undergoing an improvement as from the middle of the year. 
The growth in Spanish GDP will be around 1.3%, allowing Spain to recover its pre
pandemic GDP level in the third quarter of the year. These forecasts tace majar risks, 
mainly related with the energy markets, with the evolution of the war in Ukraine and also, 
with the hardening of monetary policy by the Euro pean Central Bank to counter the growth ' 
in prices. 

The Autopista del Atlantico toll road is the backbone of Galicia, as reflected in traffic 
trends on the AP-9, which are closely tied to the economic performance of the reg ion in 
recent years. In Galicia, growth in GDP for 2023 is estimated at around 1.7%. Bearing in 
mind the current economic situation, growth forecasts for 2023 and the risks already ~ 
mentioned, the Company expects to consolidate the traffic data of 2022. ' 

In the financia! year of 2023, the Company is expected to continue its actions to replac 
and improve infrastructure foreseen in its multi-annual plan , essentially with regard to th 
renovation of road surfaces, slope support and the improvement in structures an 
installations, with the basic aim of maintaining a user service leve! with the appropriat 
quality and improving safety with a view to reducing the rate of traffic incidents. 
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lt should also be pointed out that the Company, at the request of the Administration, 
submitted to the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda (MITMA) a Project to 
Adapt the Tunnels on the AP-9 Toll Road to Royal Decree 635/2006 regarding road 
safety, which was finally approved on 14 March 2021. The MITMA put the implementation 
of said Project out to tender and its budget amounted to 33.48 million euros (inc. VAT), 
which will be financed from the European Funds made available for said purposes. The 
works contract was signed in the last week of January 2023 and the works are set to last 
33 months. The actions affecting the operationality of the toll road currently in progress 
will be carried out by the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda in such a way 
as to cause the minimum possible disruption to toll road traffic. 

During 2023 it is envisaged, in the context of the Addenda to the agreement included in 
Royal Decree 1733/2011 of 18 November (Royal Decree 1359/2018 of 29 October), to 
pursue the processing of the anti-noise screens projects and to start the improvement 
works in the last quarter of the year. Furthermore, included under the same agreement, 
in the second half of the year the works are due to start on the improvement to the 
Chapela road which is currently out to tender. With regard to Royal Decree 681/2021 of 
29 July, in the surroundings of Vigo, variable signage installation shall be finished to 
improve safety and information to users. 

The measures implemented in recent years to reinforce the use of electronic toll collection 
systems and "multi-payment" booths - which together represented an average of 96.2% 
of traffic on the AP-9 in 2022 (average of 95.2% during 2021) will allow for more efficient 
collection management. 

The Ministry ofTransport, Mobility and Urban Agenda, in Royal Decree 1359/2018, dated 
29 October, approved an Addendum to the agreement approved by Royal Decree 
1733/2011 , dated 18 November, which establishes that the accumu lative annual 
extraordinary increase of 1 per cent for twenty years , was applied on 31 October 2018, 
the date on which said addendum began to take effect. This Addendum also sets out that 
this one-off review will apply over successive years alongside the standard tariff reviews. 
Pursuant to Act 14/2000 of 29 December, as well as in the Addendum mentioned in the 
previous paragraph, setting out the procedure for revising tariffs and tolls on toll roads 
owned by the State, authorisation was granted for a review of tariffs and tolls, effective 
from 01 January 2023. As a result of this review, tariffs were reduced by 3.51 %. 

In this regard, it should be pointed out that article 51 of Royal Decree-Law 20/2022 of 27 
December regarding measures to respond to the economic and social consequences of 
the Ukraine War and to support the reconstruction of the island of La Palma and other 
vulnerable situations, approved a one-off, temporary subsidy for the revision of tariffs and 
tolls on the toll roads owned by the General State Administration, in such a way that with 
regard to the revision of the ordinary charges that should have been applied in 2023, the 
users paya maximum increase in tariffs of 4% and the rest of the revision will be assumed 
by the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda. As far as the Company is 
concerned, the percentage of the tariffs review to be assumed by the user in terms of the 
ordinary tariff and the extraordinary increase under 1733/2011 , is 4% and so the 
percentage of the tariffs' revision to be assumed by said Ministry is 5.4%. 

4. M AIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The future of the toll road concession sector and, consequently, of the Company is 
undoubtedly affected by both the overall economic situation and changes in the regulatory 
norms that may significantly affect the expected results. The general economic situation and 
its evolution is affected by major risks, mainly related with the energy markets, with the 
evolution of the war in Ukraine and also with the hardening of monetary policy by the 
European Central Bank to counter the growth in prices. 
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With regard to potential market risk, the Company operates in accordance with the 
concession contracts with the Ministry of Transport, Mobility and Urban Agenda, wh ich 
establishes the right to redress the financia! balance should circumstances beyond the 
control of the concession operator arise, significantly limiting the risks associated with the 
activity . In this regard, and as a result of the effects caused by the crisis brought about by 
COVID-19, on 8 February 2022, and bearing in mind the regulatory framework applicable, 
the Company lodged a contentious-administrative appeal, requesting the restoration of the 
financia! and economic balance of the concession agreement. The legal basis of th is request 
is the exercise of a contractual right to maintain the aforementioned economic and financia! 
balance, based on the appearance of unforeseeable and extraordinary circumstances, as 
well as being based on the adoption --by the different governmental administrations-- of 
measures that made it impossible to execute the concession contracts under the foreseen 
terms, as the concession companies kept up with their full business activity because they 
are critica! transport infrastructures. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company --in 
accordance with the provisions of its concession contract and the appl icable legal 
framework-- continues with risk (demand risk of the concessionary company) and the risk 
of maintaining an economic and financia! balance. Said procedure is currently being 
processed. 

In any case, sorne risk factors can be identified, as summarised below: 

• Demand risk: In toll road concessions, the tolls collected by concession companies , 
which are their main source of income, depend on the number of vehicles using the 
road and its capacity to attract traffic. In turn, traffic intensity and toll income also 
depend on a number of factors, including the quality, condition , comfort and travel 
time on alternative toll-free roads or other toll roads, economic conditions, fuel 
prices, weather conditions, natural disasters and the feasibility or presence of 
alternative forms of transport such as air routes and railways. The current 
characteristics of the AP-9 toll road (mature and widely consolidated business) 
mitigate this risk. 

• Requlatory risk: The Company is subject to compliance with both sector-specific 
and general regulations (accounting, environmental, labour, data protection, tax , 
etc.), whose stability and guarantee is fundamental in a highly regulated sector. As 
occurs in ali highly regulated sectors, changes in the regulations can have a 
negative effect on the Company's business; it is not possible to assess which 
actions the granting Administration may take over a protracted period of time, so it 
is difficult to address them. In the case of significant regulatory changes (includ ing 
tax modifications), which could have an effect on income in the short term or obligate 
them to bear new costs or investments, the Company would have the right to amend 
the terms and conditions of the concession arrangement or negotiate with the 
responsible Administration certain changes in them to obtain financia! and economic 
restitution, so the effects of the potential legal or regulatory changes must be, 
neutral. ' 

lt is difficult to predict how the overall economy and the toll road catchment area will perform 
over the coming period, especially in light of the unusual economic situation caused by the 
Ukraine war. The widespread opinion of the economic institutions is that the economic 
slowdown will continue in early 2023, undergoing an improvement as from the middle of the 
year and even recovering the national GDP level from prior to the pandemic in the thirdl 
quarter of the year. Against this background, recovery in toll road demand will be measurl 
against the performance of the general economy. Furthermore, we should consid 
additional factors, such as the development of alternative means of transport that migH . 
reduce the toll road's market share in the medium and long term. In any case, expectation 
are positive in the short and medium term and it is expected to continue to maintai 
sustainable growth in our activity. 
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lt shall be noted that the assumptions used to revise the projections on which the accounting 
estimates are in accordance with the Company's general policy and are conservative. 

Other risks to which the Company is exposed are as follows: 

• Risks from damage caused during infrastructure maintenance work or construction 
or expansion work. 

• Risks associated with workplace health and safety. 
• Risks from loss of assets. 

AUDASA has appropriate control systems to identify, quantify, assess and mitigate all of 
these risks, thus minimising or eliminating their impact. There is also a policy of contracting 
and maintaining insurance policies that are framed within the insurance programme of the 
ITÍNERE Group, which cover, among others, these aspects. 

5. FINANCIAL RISK M ANAGEMENT POLICIES 

The Financia! Risk Management Policies applied by the Company are set out in note 24 
of the attached report. 

6. R ESEARCH ANO DEVELOPMENT A CTIVITIES 

The Company is not engaged in any R&D programmes that might, owing to their 
significance and expected results, substantially transform its business activity. 

7 . A CQUISITION OF Ü WN SHARES 

At 31 December 2022, the Company held no own shares. No transactions were carried 
out with this type of shares in 2022. 

8. 0 THER INFORMATION 

(a) The Company's organisational structure 

Autopistas del Atlántico, Concesionaria Española, S.A. is a toll road that links the north 
and south of Galicia. lts users prefer it to the conventional alternatives for the 
convenience, speed and safety it adds to their journeys Dueto the local terrain and heavy 
traffic flows, this toll road has become a vital part of the road network and thus the social 
economy of Galicia . 

Like all of the concession companies belonging to ITÍNERE Group, AUDASA puts the 
safety and convenience of the users of its toll roads first. lt continuously strives to improve 
the technology used in every aspect of its toll roads to ensure the smooth flow of traffic 
and more comfortable, safer driving. 

Being a public interest company, AUDASA must fulfil the legal obligations that this entails. 
lt has systems in place to boost its independence, transparency and supervisory role to 
raise quality and increase trust in its economic and financia! information. 

The decision making processes within AUDASA's organisational structure are as follows: 

• The General Shareholders' Meeting and Board of Directors are granted governance 
and administration powers under these Articles of Associa ·ien·ane-tl'le-b-a·""~- ----++------..... 
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The appointed Board Directors are responsible far administration and representing 
the Company in court and out-of-court procedures. The Director ar Directors 
appointed by the Board are responsible far enforcing its resolutions, who can be 
substituted by the Chairman ar a representative with powers to enforce and record 
the corporate resolutions in a public deed. The Board of Directors can carry out 
anything included in the corporate purpose, and exercise any powers not expressly 
reserved far the General Shareholders' Meeting by Law or under these Articles of 
Association. The Board of Directors will be formed by a mínimum of four and a 
maximum of fourteen members. 

• The Board of Directors can appoint any of its members to farm an Audit Committee, 
which must comprise non-executive directors, most of whom must be independent 
directors and who must elect their Chairman. The Audit Committee will be formed by 
a mínimum of two and a maximum of th ree members. 

• The Appointments and Remuneration Committee will be exclusively formed by non
executive directors appointed by the Board of Directors, at least two of whom must 
be independent and who must elect their Chairman. The Appointments and 
Remuneration Committee will be farmed by a mínimum of two and a maximum of 
three members. 

(b) Environmental issues and staff 

Environment 

ITÍN ERE Group has defined a Quality , Environment and Health and Safety Policy andan 
lntegrated Management System covering all of the companies that make up the Group, 
which include AUDASA. This policy is given to all employees, subcontractors and 
suppliers , it is public and it is available to anyone interested on the group's website 
(https://www.grupoitinere.com/acerca-de-itinere/politica-de-calidad-y-medio-ambiente). 

The policy sets out the objectives and basic guidelines, as well as Quality, Environment 
and Health and Safety obligations. 

ITÍNERE considers quality, environmental friendliness and health and safety at work as 
essential pi llars in the performance of its activities and the provision of its services to 
satisfy all customers, users and shareholders, responding to their requirements and 
expectations , with the crucial premise of making their performance compatible with as 
little impact on the environment as possible. 

lt is far this reason that ITÍN ERE Group's management assigns the human and material 
resources required to achieve the objective of ensuring the conformity of the services 
provided with customer requirements and complíance with all legal and regulatory 
aspects affecting it, in addition to reviewing and continuously ímproving the system, 
especially in environmental and health and safety behaviour linked to this group's key 
activities. 

Following the spiri t of our lntegrated Management System Policy , we have developed a · 
mandatory Comprehensive Management Manual and General Procedures in what 
regards our ínfrastructures, in an attempt to cover the main activities carried out by the 
group, allowing a single approach to their treatment from a quality , environmental 1 

management and health and safety at work perspective, and especially to each and every' 
one of the environmental aspects identífied, seeking to reduce the impact related with 
each and every one of these aspects. 

The lntegrated Management System has undergone a profound change iQ.1..Q2D....-a 
result of updating and incorporating improvements in the¡PrnGeetur~EZ r.nART\ EZ 
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To ensure compliance with our Environmental Policy, the Group's Management has 
established and implemented a Comprehensive Management System for quality, 
environment and occupational health and safety, based on the international standards 
UNE-EN-ISO 14001 :2015, UNE-EN-ISO 9001 :2015 and UNE-EN-45001 :2018, subject 
to interna! and externa! audits by a recognised certifying body. 

lt has also established a methodology to identify, asset, control and review key 
environmental aspects. 

The companies that make up ITÍNERE Group, as AUDASA, are a very important part of 
the social environment and territorial area where they are located, as they guarantee 
appropriate mobility for citizens in the whole of Spain, and generate employment, 
especially for those residing near the toll road . 

AUDASA has its own Collective Bargaining Agreement, which reflects and regulates the 
peculiarities of the local culture. The Collective Agreement improves general working 
conditions and respond to the concerns and worries of each group. 

This policy has led to an excellent working environment with a high level of commitment 
to our business project. This can be seen in the significant average length of service of 
our staff and in the low voluntary turnover in AUDASA in 2022 (0.86%). 

AUDASA establishes an organisation of work depending on weather changes and the 
flow of traffic in specific seasons within the relevant legal regulations. Shifts are stable 
and the annual work calendar is individualised and delivered at the beginning of the year, 
thus enabling professional and family reconciliation. 

To strike a work-life balance, the collective bargaining agreement regulates reconciliation 
measures, improving on those established by law. 

In addition, the company is committed to employment stability and quality employment, 
as it appears from the large proportion of permanent contracts (91.13% of employees 
have permanent contracts). Interna! promotion is one of the Group's trademarks. 

The HR Management guarantees meticulous compliance with the regulations on 
prevention, and prometes preventive activi ties so that they become part of the corporate 
cu lture. In collaboration with the Mutual's prevention services, "Risk Prevention Plans" 
have been established and their consequent monitoring, establishing the necessary 
corrective mea sures where necessary. 

The collective bargaining agreement regulate the constitution of a Health and Safety 
Committee, pursuant to Act 31 /1995, of 8 November 1995, on occupational risk 
prevention, which is made up of company representatives and prevention delegates. The 
aforementioned committees meet when necessary, at the request of one of the parties. 
and supervise the company's actions in risk prevention matters. The Committee may 
require implementing special surveillance measures for jobs with health and safety risks. 

AUDASA promotes training in health and safety at work for all staff, enabling attendance 
to courses given in this area. 

AUDASA considers training essential , as constant update of knowledge, special is tion 
and greater attention to the service provided by the companies is crucial. So th HR 
Management sets the criteria to carry out a training program aimed at impr ing 
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professional performance, which ensures that workers develop and perfect the 
knowledge required to achieve greater efficiency and better skills in their job performance. 

Meanwhile, training is aimed at motivating people and encouraging their development 
and integration within the organisation. Training is thus continuous and permanent within 
the company. A Training Plan is drawn up annually to address the points to be improved 
by employees and encourage adaptation to change, so that the performance of each 
position is increasingly higher. 

Lastly, AUDASA has an Equality Plan in place in Autopistas del Atlántico, with the 
purpose of promoting the application of the principie of equa l treatment between men and 
women, to promote women's access to management positions, to ra ise awareness on 
equal opportunities at management level, to establish measures that favour the 
reconci liation of family and working life and to prevent sex-based discrimination at work . 
This has all been regulated in article 67 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement of 
AUDASA but, to ensure compliance with the new regulations on effective equa lity 
between men and women, a Committee was set up to negotiate a new Equality Plan, 
signed on 25 October 2022. 

Note 20 of the attached Annual Report includes specific information about staff. 

ITÍNERE Group voluntarily provides Non-Financia! Reporting containing information 
about environmental, social and personnel matters, among others, with key indicators 
and their development. This information is available on the website and is part of the 
consolidated Annual Accounts of ITÍNERE: 
(https://www.grupoitinere.com/acerca-de-itinere/informacion-de-interes/memoria-anual/) 

(e) Capital resources 

According to the terms and conditions of the concession agreement, the Company is 
under the obligation of having a capital structure that establishes a mínimum share capital 
of 10% in relation to the total investment figure and the same percentage in relation to 
the total mobilised funds. The Company easily fulfils both limits. 

The investment in the toll road that the Company operates has been financed under a 
permanent financing structure (shareholders' equity and borrowed funds, subsidies and 
repayable advances (see note 1 (c) of the attached annual report) in which the borrowed 
funds comprised different types of non-current transactions which are refinanced 
systematically u pon maturity, based on the lengthy concession period remaining and 
constant access to debt and capital markets, even in unfavourable circumstances such 
as the 2008 financia! crisis and the COVI D-19 pandemic. Financia! debt is currently 
represented by seven low-tax debentures targeted at the general public, as well as two 
bank loans anda loan with institutional investors (see notes 7, 13 and 14 of the attached 
annual report). 

Considering the remammg concession period (unti l 2048), the EBITOA margin and 
recurring income, the Company estimates that it wi ll continue to meet its financia! . 
obligations on time as it has done so far. The debt service coverage ratio times for interest' 
in financia! year 2022 was close to 4x, showing that the Company has substantial 
solvency. 

The Company does not expect significant changes in the debt-to-equity structure in 
financia! year 2023. 

At the time of preparing these annual accounts, the Company had not entered into any 
important investment commitments, largely because all of its routes were fully 
operational. Should additional funds be requ ired to meet future commitments, for exam le 
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due to capital increases or adapting to new legal requirements, systems would be put in 
place whereby the granting Public Administration wou ld pay the concession company 
compensation for the increased costs to amend the terms and conditions of the 
concession agreement. The funds required for such investments could come from 
borrowed funds, among others. 

The Company's operating cash flows are used to ensure the proper conservation and 
maintenance of the concession assets, both now and in the future, considering the 
maturity of the concession company, systematic maintenance plans and predictability. 

(d) Analysis of contractual obligations and off-balance sheet transact ions 

The Company has no other contractual obligations other than those mentioned herein. 

The company has no significant off-balance sheet transactions. 

9. C ORPORATE G OVERNANCE 

(a) Code of Good Governance 

The unified Code of Good Governance for companies approved by way of a Resolution 
of the Board of the National Securities' Market Commission (CNMV) on 22 May 2006, as 
a single document, along with the corporate governance recommendations for the 
purposes of the provisions of section 1.f) of the first provision of Order EC0/3722/2003 
issued on 26 December, is not mandatorily applicable to AUDASA. 

(b) Main characteristics of the interna! risk management and control systems with 
regard to the information issuance process 

• Entity control environment 

o Audit Committee 

The Company Audit Committee is responsible, inter alia , for verifying the existence and 
maintenance of an appropriate, effective Interna! Control System for Financia! lnformation 
(henceforth, SCllF), its implementation and supervision. 

The duties assigned to the Audit Committee with regard to interna! control considered in 
the AUDASA Articles of Association in its article 39-bis are the fo llowing: 

[ .. ] 

b) To supervise the effectiveness of the interna! control of the Company, interna! auditing 
and risk management systems, as well as discussing with the accounts' auditor the major 
weaknesses of the interna! control system detected during the course of the audit, ali 
without violating its independence. With this in mind, and during its development, 
recommendations or proposals may be made to the administration body and the 
attendant timeframe for its monitoring. 

c) To supervise the process to draw up and submit the mandatory financia! information 
and submit recommendations and proposals to the administration body, aimed at 
safeguarding its integrity. 
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To obtain a reasonable leve! of certainty about the rel iability of the financia! information, 
the Audit Committee shall supervise: 

The correct application of the accounting principies. 

The suitability of the monitoring procedures and policies implemented. 

The preparation process and integrity of the financia! information, reviewing the 
correct design and operating effectiveness of the SCllF and compliance with · 
normative requirements. 

The Audit Committee shall mainly be backed up by Interna! Audit work and it shall hold 
such meetings with externa! auditors as prove necessary. Interna! Auditing shall plan the 
test checks, review the SCllF, communicate its results and carry out foliow-up of the 
recommendations. 

In turn , the Administration Department of AUDASA shall be responsible for the design, 
implementation, evaluation and follow-up of the SCllF. 

The SCllF Manual of the ITiNERE Group, which includes AUDASA, has defined an 
organisational model and a responsibility structure which involves ali levels of the 
organisation and which determines the roles of each of the SCllF participants. 

Furthermore, within the ITiNERE Group, the Human Resources' Department is endowed 
with an organisational structure which has developed the responsibilities and lines of 
authority for each work post and which is periodicaliy updated, adapting to the changes. 

o Code of conduct 

The Company is subject to the "Code of Conduct" which was modified by a resolution of 
the Board of Directors of ITÍNERE INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A. on 19 December 2019, 
applicable to ali ITiNERE Group companies, considering that its activity and that of the 
natural and legal persons related with it not only meets and complies with the prevailing 
legislation and its Corporate Governance and Compliance System, but also with the 
principies of business ethics and institutional integrity which reflect the values that govern 
its action. 

This Code of Conduct (henceforth , the "Code") is geared towards developing the ethical 
and behavioural principies that the Board of Directors of the Company understands that 
have to be observed by those subject to the Code during the carrying out of their activity , 
based on principie of proper control by those subject to the Code, with a view to 
preventing, detecting, reacting and resolving any type of irregular conduct (both from a 
legal and ethical perspective) , ali whilst bearing in mind the criminal liability regime for 
legal persons in force under Spanish legislation and set out in the decision from 2012 by 
the Board of Directors of the Company to implement in the ITiNERE Group an effective, 
dynamic criminal risk prevention programme by establishing effective measures in terms 
of reliable surveiliance, supervision and control to prevent, detect and discover any crimes 
and/or irregular conducts that may have been committed during the course of their 
business activity , in their name or on their behalf, and to their director indirect benefit. 

This Code of Conduct. which is published at the website of the Group's paren! company 
((https://www.grupoitinere.com/cumplimiento-corporativo/codigo-de-conducta/)) includes 
the commitment of the ITiNERE Group to the principies of business ethics, institutional 
integrity and transparency in ali its fields of action, establishing a set of principies and 
rules of conduct aimed at ensuring the ethical, upright and responsible behaviour of ali 
those subject to the Group Code during the course of their activity. These principie ' 
include being subject to the Law, respect, transparency , sustainability, responsibility , 
fairness and honesty in ali their actions. 
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The following parties are all subject to the Code: all the directors, managers, proxies and 
employees of the IT[NERE Group, in the latter case regardless of how they are 
contracted, when they act in their capacity as such, in other words, when they act in the 
name or on behalf of the Group or its subsidiaries, during the carrying out of their social 
or employment activities and to its director indirect benefit, themselves or through sorne 
controlled entity or company. The principies guiding their conduct will be professionalism. 
integrity and responsibility: 

• 

Professionalism is diligent, responsible and efficient action focused on achieving 
excellence, quality and innovation; 

lntegrity is loyal, honourable action, in good faith , objective and aligned with the 
interests of the Group as well as with the principies and values expressed in its DNA 
throughout this Code; 

Responsibility is behaviour based on four basic premises: 

• The action should be ethically acceptable; 

• lt should be legally valid; 

• lt should be desirable for the Company and the Group; and 

• lt should be willing to assume responsibility for it. 

o Compliance area 

The body responsible for analysing breaches and putting forward corrective actions and 
sanctions is the Compliance Function which. as part of the Corporate Governance and 
Compliance System, gravitates around the Compliance Area and the Compliance Unit. 

The Compliance Area is a permanent, interna! body, with competences in the context of 
the Compliance Programme and whose operation and actions will be directly supervised 
by the Compliance Unit of the Company, in the manner and way in which it is set out in 
its interna! Regulations. The Compliance Unit is a collegiate body of a permanent, interna! 
na tu re of the Company, responsible for taking those decisions conveyed to it by the 
Compliance Area. in accordance with its operating Regulations, to which end it has been 
assigned ful! competences. autonomy and independence of action, also being, through 
its Chairman, the notification body to the Board of Directors and Senior Management. 

The Company and the ITf NERE Group express their purpose of the continuous, sustained 
creation of value in the medium and long-term for its shareholders and it shall 
permanently put at their disposal the communication and consultation channels that 
enable them to have appropriate, useful, truthful and complete information about the 
evolution of Group results. 

Those subject to the Code shall refrain from generating obligations with a view to avoiding 
compliance with the asset liabilities of the Group vis-a-vis its creditors. In particular, any 
of the fol lowing conducts is strictly forbidden: 

To carry out to the detriment of the Group creditors any act of disposition or assets 
or act which generates obligations which delays, hinders or prevents he 
effectiveness of a seizure or enforcement procedure or court, out-of-court of 
administrative collection which has started or is ex ectecttcJS"tar ENITEZ rnA INEZ 
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With a view to avoid ing the payment of civil liabilities deriving from a criminal 
proceeding, carry ing out acts of disposition or taking on obligations which reduce the 
Group's assets or concealing elements of its assets to which the enforcement may 
be applied. 

To submit, in a judicia l or administrative enforcement procedure, to an authority or 
employee responsible for the enforcement, an incomplete or untruthful list of assets 
in order to delay, hinder or prevent the satisfaction of a Group cred itor. 

To make use of any Group assets seized by a public authority which may have been 
formed as deposits without being authorised to this end. 

In the event that the Company or any of the Group compan ies finds itself in a current ar 
imminent insolvency situation, under no circumstances may they carry out any of the 
following conducts: 

To conceal , cause damage to or destroy any assets or property that are included or 
which would have been included, in the bankrupt estate at the time it commences. 

• To carry ou t acts of disposition or assumption of debts which are not proportionate to 
the asset situation of the Group and which lack any type of economic ar business 
justification. 

• To carry out transactions for a price lower than their cost and which in the 
circumstances of the case , lack any type of economic ar business justification. 

To simulate credits or recognise fictitious credits . 

To take part in speculative business wh ich lack any type of economic ar business 
justification and is contrary to the duty of diligence in corporate management of the 
Group ar its companies. 

To breach the legal duty to keep the accounts or do double bookkeeping or carry out 
any type of relevant accounting irregularity which prevents a full understanding of the 
net worth or financia! position of the Company or any of the Group entities. 

• To conceal, destroy ar alter the documentation with regard to which there is a legal 
obligation of storage before the elapsing of the timeframe foreseen to th is end by the 
applicable regulations . 

o 

To draw up annual accounts ar accounting records in a manner contrary to the 
regu lations which regulate company accounting. 

To carry out any other conduct that constitutes a serious infringement of the duty of 
dil igence and loyalty in the management of economic and business affairs of the 
Group ar its companies. 

To promote a creditor through acts of disposition of assets or acts which generate 
obligations with a view to paying ita payable credit or providing it with a guarantee to 
which it was not entitled when the operation lacked anv tvpe of economic or business. 
justification. 

Compliance Channel 

PILAR BENITEZ MARTIN ~Z 
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The complaints channel of the ITÍNERE Group, called the Compliance Channel, is 
avai lable to employees and suppliers, with a view to promoting compliance with the law 
and th e behavioural regulations determined in the Code of Conduct, as well as so that;' 
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they can make such consultations as they deemed appropriate with regard to their 
interpretation or application. 

The existence of this Compliance Channel is assumed to be without prejudice to any 
other mechanisms or channels that may be established, where applicable, in the context 
of the Normative System for Corporate Governance and Compliance of the Group. 

The Compliance Channel is a channel for transparent use and of a reserved and 
confidential nature for the communication, by !hose subject to the Group Code, of any 
behaviour that may involve the committing , owing toan action or omission, of irregularities 
or acts contrary to the law orto the operating laws of the Code of Conduct ("Reporting of 
Non-compliance"). 

The Compliance Channel is also used to clear up any doubt that may arise about the 
interpretation of the Code of Conduct; to communicate any reasonable sign of the leaking 
of reserved and confidential information and/or the private use thereof, as well as to carry 
out any consultations and consulting regarding the policies and legislation applicable to 
economic and financia! matters related with possible acts of fraud. The Compliance 
Channel ensures confidentiality during the processing of any reports, as well as a 
thorough analysis of any actions that may entail a possible breach and maximum respect 
for the rights of those people presumably involved therein. ITiNERE Group will keep a 
record of all complaints received . These will be kept only for the proportionate period as 
may be required . 

o Training programmes 

As regards the training and updating programmes, AUDASA and the ITÍNERE Group 
believe that the continuous training of its employees and managers in those aspects that 
concern the Company is key . With this in mind, it also believes that in-depth, up-to-date 
training of the rules on the drawing up of financia! information, normative information 
about capital markets, tax affairs and interna! control, are necessary to ensure that the 
information reported to the markets is reliable and complies with the regulations in force. 

The Company Administration Department, as well as the Financia! Control and Group 
Management Department are subscribed to various publications and magazines of an 
accounting/financial nature which periodically send news and other communications of 
interest, which are analysed, ensuring that they are taken into account when drawing up 
the financia! information of the Company. 

With regard to the preparation and reviewing of the financia! information, every year the 
ITÍNERE Group designs and puts into practice training plans which include those training 
requirements which are identified by the Financia! Control and Group Management 
Department with regard to the new accounting, tax, interna! control regulations and the 
changes to the reporting methodology and/or the information systems. 

As a result of the identification of requirements in the aforementioned areas, the 
appropriate training activities are designed and carried out to cover the annual training 
targets in these fie lds. 

• Financia! information risk assessment 

The ITÍNERE Group ensures the interna! quality control of the financia! information, 
identifying and controlling the critica! risks associated with the operations, their 
authorisation, registration and processing, as well as the disclosure of the financie 1 

information. lt is also vigilant vis-a-vis fraud and anticipates the corrective measure, 
necessary to reduce the risk of incurring any errors and omission that may affect th ~ 
reliability of the financia! information . 
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With this in mind, it has an "Interna! Control System Manual for Financia! lnformation 
(SCllF)" for the ITINERE Group, which has been drawn up taking as its reference the 
interna! control framework determined in the COSO report (Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission) and the definition included in the document 
"Interna! control of financia! information in listed companies" of the CNMV. 

For each of the processes and subprocesses identified in the scope matrix of SCllF, the 
following documentation has to be kept up-to-date: 

Narrative: Written description of the process/subprocess and its control activities. 

Flowchart: Graphic representation of the control activities flow. 

• Risk and control matrix: ldentification, for each process/ subprocess, of the inherent 
risks and the key controls designed to mitigate them, as well as the sole proprietor of 
each of them. 

That the information should be rel iable entails compliance wi th all the control objectives 
with regard to the financia! statements. The safeguarding of assets and the 
prevention/detection of fraud are regarded as objectives of SCl lF owing to the impact 
they have on the previous objectives. 

The financia! information objectives inspire the drawing up and updating of the "Risk and 
control matrix" of AUDASA, which includes the expected risks and controls, drawn up in 
line with good practices and a knowledge of the key processes/subprocesses which are 
subject to review, in such a way that, by way of a comparison of the actual situation with 
said "Risk and control matrix" whose aspects liable to improvement may become clear. 

The supervision process of the interna! control system is carried out in continuous fash ion 
over time. 

The scope of the evaluation of the interna! control system regarding the financia! 
information will be approved every year by the Audit Committee, being based on the 
objectives and risks of the financia! information, having to establish those processes 
which are especially critica! for the preparation of financia! information which must be 
reviewed annually . 

The organisation chart of the ITÍNERE Group is updated every time there is a change to 
the participation of any of the group companies or after the incorporation of new 
companies, the sale or dissolution of existing companies, though th is procedure is at 
ITÍNERE Group level, as AUDASA does not have any interests in companies. 

Within the qualitative criteria for identifying which accounts and breakdowns are 
associated with a significant risk and whose potential impact on the financia! information 
may be significant, which are determined in the "Interna! Control System Manual for1 

Financia! lnformation (SCl lF)" of the ITÍNERE Group, there is "any other process that the 
Finance Department believes may entail any risk whose impact on the Financia! 
Statements may be significant". 

As stated befare, the Audit Committee's duties include responsibility for approval as to 
what, when ar how to supervise and evaluate the SCllF, as well as to draw a conclusi n1 
about its effectiveness. 1 
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Control activities 

At the start of each financia! year, and whenever there is a significant variation in the 
consolidation perimeter or in the group business, the scope of the SCI IF rev iew procedure 
is carried out. The SCllF scope matrix allows the identification of which accounts and 
breakdowns have a significant risk associated and whose potential impact on the financia! 
information may be significant. Bearing this in mind, quantitative and qualitative factors 
are taken into account. This work will be carried out by the Finance Department which 
will send AU DASA's Administration Department those material processes that have to be 
considered in SCl lF. 

For each of the significant breakdowns and accounts, the critica! processes and 
subprocesses associated with them have been defined, and the risks have been identified 
which could generate errors and/or fraud in the financia! information, covering all the 
objectives of the financia! information. 

For each of the processes and subprocesses identified in the scope matrix of SCllF, the 
following documentation has to be kept up-to-date: 

Narrative: Written description of the process/subprocess and its control activities. 

Flowchart: Graphic representation of the control activities flow. 

• Risk and control matrix: ldentification, for each process/ subprocess, of the inherent 
risks and the key controls designed to mitigate them, as well as the sole proprietor of 
each of them. 

Furthermore, within the organisational structure defined far the supervisory duties of 
SCllF, the roles of Process Manager and Control Manager are established. 
The Process Manager has the following duties: 

To identify any risks that may affect the Financia! lnformation in the process 

• To propase and implement the most appropriate controls to mitigate the risks 

To make sure that the controls are working properly 

To report on the operation of interna! control in the process 

lmplementation of recommendations 

The Control Manager shall be responsible for: 

Carrying out the controls. 

lnforming about any incidents that may occur. 

To keep up-to-date the documentation thereof which shall be reviewed at least every 
six months. 

The supervision process of the interna! control system must be carried out continuously 
over time. 

The results obtained from the control testing trials carried out by the Interna! ~udit 
Department shall be communicated at 3 levels: 

The process managers; 
PILAR BC!NfTEZ IJIARTfNEZ 
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• AUDASA Administration Department; 

Audit Committee. 

lf any incidents or opportunities far improvement have been identified which do not affect 
the result of the test as effective, they shall be notified to the Process Manager far his 
ana lysis and consideration. 

lf it is concluded that the controls are ineffective, the shortcomings must be communicated 
and compared first and faremost, with the Process Manager, and then be informed to the 
Administration Department of AUDASA and the Audit Committee, in accordance with the 
arder established in the Evaluation (annual review) or Supervision processes, 
respectively determined in the Policy. 

Interna! control procedu res and policies regarding the information systems 

AUDASA uses infarmation systems to keep a su ita ble logging and control of its operations 
and hence their smooth operation is a key element. The interna! control system far the 
financia! information of AUDASA has defined those critica! processes and subprocesses 
which affect the drawing up of the financia! infarmation. Within these processes and 
subprocesses there are specific controls which cover the process far drawing up and 
publishing financia! information . 

Far those systems and applications used in the preparation of financia! information, the 
Administration Department has determined general policies aimed at ensuring their 
proper operation. The policies developed cover safety , both physical and logical, as 
regards accesses, design verification procedures for new systems or modifications to the 
already existing ones and the continuity of their operation (or coming on line of alternative 
applications and systems) ion the event of any unexpected events that affect their 
operation. 

To date, AUDASA has not outsourced any processes from which the information set out 
therein derives, which has a material impact on the financia! statements and is not subject 
to supervision by the Company. When outsourcing with third parties, it is ensured that the 
technical capacity, independence and competence of the outsourced party is that 
requ ired far the work to be carried out. In the majority of cases, they are evaluations 
carried out by independent experts whose criteria and results are reviewed by the ltinere 
Group. 

lnformation and communication 

The specific function responsible far defining and keeping up-to-date the accounting 
policies and clearing up and queries and disputes deriving from their interpretation, 
maintaining fluid communication with those responsible far operations in the organisation, 
as well as an up-to-date accounting policies' manual and communicated to the units 
through which the entity operates, falls to the Financia! Control and Management 
Department of ITÍNERE which perfarms these duties far the purposes of preparing the; 
consolidated financia! information and, accordingly , the information that each subsidiary 
(AUDASA, in this case) has to report. 

The ITÍNERE Group has various integrated financia! information platforms far virtually all 
its subsidiaries. Each of the subsidiaries is responsible far drawing up and loading the 
corporate consolidation and reporting system, the Monthly Reporting that conta ins thet 
financia! infarmation required at the clase of each month far the preparation of the 
consolidated infarmation and any other financia ! infarmation required. 

The Monthly Reporting is unique and based on a homogeneous chart of accounts far all 
the companies determined by the Financia! Control and Management Department of the 
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ITÍNERE Group and it includes breakdowns and notes which are updated in each report 
and which present a monthly approval and review process befare their distribution. The 
information of the Monthly Reporting is loaded directly by the controllers in the corporate 
consolidation and reporting system and this involves a series of controls, being revised 
in the holding with a view to ensuring the reliability and correct presentation of the 
information far the financia! year. 

Supervision of system operation 

The supervision activities with regard to SCllF are undertaken by the Audit Committee 
and the Interna! Audit Department. 

Of the duties included under article 39-bis of the AUDASA Articles of Association, those 
of interna! control supervision and knowing the financia! information process and the 
interna! control systems of the Company are represented , overseeing compliance with 
the legal requirements and the proper application of the generally accepted accounting 
principies. 

The Audit Committee shall mainly be backed up by the work of the Interna! Audit 
Department and it shall hold such meetings with externa! auditors as prove necessary .. 

The Interna! Audit Department shall plan the supervision and evaluation of SCl lF, with 
the appropriate scope and frequency in arder to be able to reach a conclusion about their 
effectiveness, taking into account the works of the Annual Audit Plan, with the latter being 
approved at the start of each financia! year by the Audit Committee of AUDASA. 

The Interna! Audit Department shall determine the nature and extent of the tests to be 
carried out which facilitate the identification of any potential shortcomings in control and 
the ana lysis of the causes underlying them to determine the degree of compliance and 
efficiency of the control systems. The shortcomings identified in the evaluation are 
classified in line with quantitative criteria , taking into account the impact on the financia! 
statements and the likelihood of the occurrence thereof, and subsequently based on 
qualitative criteria. 

The Audit Committee must be informed about any incidents detected in SCllF elements 
related with the following situations: 

Reworking of the financia! statements. 

ldentification by the externa! auditors of any material adjustments which have not 
been detected by interna! control. 

lncorrect operation of the Complaints Channel Procedure or Control bodies .. 

Legal breaches. 

Significant shortcomings communicated to the Management and to the Audit 
Committee and which have not been corrected within a reasonable timeframe. 

A deficient control environment. 

• ldentification of fraud which has been carried out by the Management, or identification 
of fraud by any other employee/s which exceeds the threshold determined by the 
Management. 

Controls which avoid the misappropriation (au thorisations, powers of attorney etc.) of 
company assets which may have a material impact on the financia! statements, 
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should start being regarded as material weaknesses. lf these incidents are not 
regarded as material weaknesses, but rather as significant shortcomings, the reasons 
underlying this decision should be sent to the Finance Department, subject to 
agreement with the externa! auditor. 

The Interna! Audit Department periodically submits to the Audit Committee: 

the Annual Interna! Aud it Plan which it must approve, where applicable. 

a detailed monitoring of the implementation of the Audit Plan. 

the evaluation of SCllF. 

• Risk assessment of the company, evaluating whether the interna! auditors are 
supervising the essential controls and identifying and tackling ali the risks, 

• the control of the implemen tation of corrective measures or recommendations carried 
out by the Interna! Audit Department and , where applicable, the justification of the 
breach thereof. 

The communication between the Audit Committee and the externa! auditor shall be fl uid and 
continuous, provided that they do not prejudice the independence of the auditor nor the 
effectiveness with which the aud it is carried out whereby the audit procedures are undertaken. 
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PROPOSED DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT 

FOR 2022 

.Profit for 2022 totalled 66,098,958.06 euros, which will be fully distributed as the dividend. 
( 
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ONE: Pursuant to the requirements of Article 253 of the consolidated text of the Capital . 
Companies Act and Article 37 of the Spanish Code of Commerce, the Directors of AUTOPISTAS 
DEL ATLÁNTICO, CONCESIONARIA ESPAÑOLA, S.A. (Single-Shareholder company), 
specified hereinbelow, ali of them comprising the Board of Directors in its entirety, have prepared 
the attached Annual Accounts, including the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement 
of changes in equity , the cash flow statement and Annual Report, the management report and 
the proposed distribution of profit for the year ended 31 December 2022, to be approved by the 
Single Shareholder of the Company. Said documents are included on the preceding pages, 
correlatively numbered from 1 to the present one. 

TWO: At the same time, the undersigned, as the Company's Directors, declare that the 
Company's books. which form the basis of these annual accounts. do not contain any items that 
need to be included in the specific environmental information document provided for in Justice 
Ministry Order JUS/206/2009 of 28 January. 

Signed in Madrid on 27 March 2023. 

Mr. Andrés Muntaner Pedrosa 

Chairman 

Mr. Juan Carlos López Verdejo 

Director 

Mr. José Puelles Gallo 

Director 

Mr. José Ca rlos Otero Fernández 

Director 

ENAITINERE, S.A. 

Represented by: 

Mr. Francisco Javier Pérez Gracia 

Director 

Mr. José Alberto Diaz Peña 

Director 

Mr. Alberto Jiménez Ortiz 

Director 

Mr. José Luis Gómez Sierra 

Director 

Mr. Rafael Monja Carrió 

Director 
Mr. Santiago del Pino Aguilera 

------------.:-;:::=:-:::-;;:;~~zs;-;,1 lNEZSecr tary non-Director 
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CLASE 8.ª 

TRADUCCIÓN JURADA 

Pilar Benítez Martínez, Traductora Jurada facultada por el Ministerio de Asuntos 

Q Exteriores español. 

Traducción jurada número - () lLY z.. 7- O'f Go - en mis archivos personales. 

La presente traducción consta de _ :f %- páginas, firmadas y selladas por la 

traductora. 

******** 

Dª Pilar Benítez Martínez, Intérprete Jurado de Inglés, Traductora Oficial por la 
Oficina de Interpretación de Lenguas del Ministerio de Asuntos Exteriores, habilitada 
para el ejercicio de la traducción oficial en todo el territorio nacional, por el presente 
documento DOY FE: 

De que la traducción anterior refleja fielmente en el idioma INGLÉS un documento 
en el idioma ESPAÑOL. 

Y para que así conste, firmo y sello el presente documento en Madrid, a 17 de abril 
de 2023. 

Ms Pilar Benítez Martínez, Sworn Tr nslator by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of 
Spain, duly certified and sworn far the offi ial translation of documents in the Spanish 
Territory, HEREBY CERTIFY: 

That the previous translation faithf 11 reproduces in ENGLISH a document in 
SPANISH. 

And far the record, I sign and stamp this document in Madrid, 17 April 2023. 

PILAR BENfTEZ MART(NEZ 
TRADUCTORA·INT~RPRETE JIJkADA Dt. 11~GLÉS 
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